## **NOTE TO USERS**

This reproduction is the best copy available.



Effect of acute ethanol administration on the extracellular concentrations of the opioid peptides  $\beta$ -Endorphin, Met-Enkephalin and Dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub> at the level of ventral tegmental area in the rat.

Samuel J. Jarjour Department of Psychiatry McGill University, Montreal May, 2007

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science at McGill University

© Samuel Jarjour, 2007



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-32833-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-32833-0

#### NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

#### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

#### Abstract

There is experimental evidence suggesting that ethanol alters the activity of the endogenous opioid peptide systems in a dose and brain region dependent manner. These ethanol-induced alterations in opioid activity may influence the processes of ethanol reward and reinforcement. However, the precise nature of the link between ethanolopioid interactions influencing reward and reinforcement is not clearly understood. Thus, it was the objective of the present study to investigate the response of the three major opioid peptide systems (endorphins, enkephalins, and dynorphins) to acute ethanol administration, at the level of the ventral tegmental area (VTA), a brain region important for drug, including ethanol, reinforcement. Using the *in vivo* microdialysis technique coupled with specific solid-phase radioimmunoassays for  $\beta$ -endorphin, met-enkephalin, and dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  changes of the extracellular concentration of theses peptides at the level of VTA were determined at distinct time points following the administration of 0.0 (saline), 0.8, 1.6, and 2.4 g ethanol/ kg B/Wt.. Results demonstrated a biphasic effect of ethanol on  $\beta$ -endorphin release with 1.6, but not 0.8 or 2.4, g ethanol /kg B.Wt. enhancing  $\beta$ -endorphin release. None of the ethanol doses used altered the extracellular levels of met-enkephalin, and dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  peptides. In conclusion, the present findings suggest that at the level of VTA interactions of  $\beta$ -endorphin with the  $\mu$  and/or  $\delta$  opioid receptors on GABA interneurons may contribute to the ethanol induced augmentation in the activity of the mesolimbic dopaminergic system, and influence ethanol reinforcement.

Ι

#### Résumé

Il existe une évidene expérimentale qui suggère que l'éthanol change l'activité du système d'opiacées endogènes selon le dose et la région du cerveau. Les altérations dans l'activité opioïde provoquée par l'éthanol peuvent influencer les processus de 'récompenses' et de 'renforcement' par l'ethanol. Cependant, la nature précise de l'influence entre l'interaction éthanol-opioïde et la 'récompense' et le 'renforcement' n'est pas entierment comprise. Donc, l'objectif de la presente étude etait d'investiger la réponse des 3 systèmes majeurs de peptides opiacées (endorphine, enkèphaline, dynorphine) à une seule administration d'éthanol au niveau du 'VTA', region importante du cerveau pour le 'renforcement' par la drogue incluant l'éthanol. En utilisant la technique microdialyse in vivo avec des 'radioimmunoassays' phase-solide spécifiques à des  $\beta$ -endorphine, met-enképhaline, et dynorphine A<sub>1-8</sub>, des changements de la concentration extra-cellulaires de ces peptides au niveau du 'VTA' on été déterminés apres des intervalles distinctes suite à l'administration de 0.0 (saline), 0.8, 1.6, et 2.4 g éthanol/ kg de masse corporelle. Les resultats ont démontré un effet à double-phase de l'éthanol sur la libération de la  $\beta$ -endorphine avec une dose de 1.6 mais pas de 0.8 ou 2.4 g éthanol/ kg de masse corporelle augmentent la libération de la  $\beta$ -endorphine. Aucune des doses d'éthanol n'a altérée les niveaux extra-cellulaires de met-enképhaline et dynorphine A<sub>1-8</sub>. En Conclusion, les résultats de cette étude suggèrent qu'au niveau 'VTA', les interactions de la  $\beta$ -endorphine avec les récepteurs opioïdes  $\mu$  et/ou  $\delta$  sur l'interneuron 'GABA' peuvent contribuer à l'augmentation de l'activité du système

Π

dopamine mesolimbique provoquée par l'éthanol, et peuvent également influencer le 'renforcement' par l'éthanol.

•

#### Notes to the Reader

In the text that follows, the terms "alcohol" and "ethanol" are both used, and they both refer to ethyl alcohol (CH<sub>3</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>OH), a psychoactive drug found in alcoholic beverages.

Also, the terms "opioid" and "opiate" generally refer to endogenous and exogenous chemicals, respectively.

The studies included in this thesis have been presented at international conferences, and are to be submitted for publication in a peer-reviewed scientific journal.

Jarjour SJ, Gianoulakis CG. (2006) Acute ethanol exposure alters the levels of opioid peptides in the VTA of the rat. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, June Supplement.* 30 (6): 128A. Presented at the 29<sup>th</sup> Annual meeting of the Research Society on Alcoholism June 23-29, 2006, Baltimore. Maryland, U.S.A.

#### Statement of original scholarship

In this thesis, *in vivo* microdialysis studies on the effects of acute ethanol challenges, of various doses, on the activity of endogenous opioid peptides at the level of the rat ventral tegmental area are presented. Ethanol induced changes in the activity of distinct components of the endogenous opioid system in brain regions associated with the processes of reward and reinforcement, such as the ventral tegmental area, have been proposed to mediate, at least in part, ethanol's reinforcing effects. Several previously-reported studies have examined the effects of ethanol on opioidergic responses in various brain regions, however few have done so at the level of the ventral tegmental area, and those that have used post-mortem tissue at a single time point post-ethanol administration. Thus, I believe that the experiments described in this thesis constitute the first detailed time-course, dose-response study on the effects of ethanol on the release of opioid peptides at the level of VTA of the freely-moving rat, using the *in vivo* microdialysis technique. Results indicated that ethanol indeed may alter the release of  $\beta$ -endorphin at the level of VTA, supporting a role of  $\beta$ -endorphin in ethanol reinforcement.

#### Acknowledgements

Despite having played the role of author in preparing this thesis, it is with some reluctance that my name alone has been printed on the title page. Indeed, seldom is the output of one individual truly theirs and theirs only. While actions of innumerable people have undoubtedly influenced the course of my studies, and this thesis, there are a few individuals, by sheer magnitude of their contributions, for whom an acknowledgement is appropriate and merited. Having come under their influence comprises an important reason why I tend to think of myself as a lucky person. They are as follows.

Christina Gianoulakis, my thesis supervisor, who has had plenty of faith, provided indispensable advice, and given extraordinarily patient support, having done theses things at every step of the way; Lab mates Minh Lam and Li Bai, reliable bastions of unending science wit and laboratory wisdom, always sharp and never cold, as well as Xing Dai and Sandra Santella, always a joy to share a word with, even (and particularly, as may have been the case) if not about science; The administrative/support staff of the Douglas Hospital Research Centre and the McGill Department of Psychiatry, notably Sarah Ako and Miriam Staudt, both of whom make worrying about administrative problems easy and fun; Marcelle Santaguida, for the French translation of the abstract; The rest of the DHRC members, many of them students, who bring the centre to life, and also add a different (crucial) dimension to working in science (or anywhere else), providing enrichment on so many levels; My family, and friends, notably Julie Santaguida, who have absorbed so much fretting, and have disgorged so much goodness in return; Summarily, all of my teachers, who all taught me something.

This work was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).

VI

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CHAPTER 1: Literature Review and Objectives	1
1.1 The nature of alcohol	2
1.2 Alcohol at the societal level	3
1.3 Genetics of alcoholism	4
1.4 Biological markers of alcoholism	6
1.5 Endogenous opioid systems	7
1.6 Opioid manipulations: behavioural effects	10
1.7 Effects of alcohol on the activity of the endogenous opioid systems	12
1.8 Animal models in alcoholism and the endogenous opioid system	14
1.9 Sensitivity of opioid systems to ethanol	16
1.10 The brain reward system and dopamine	19
1.11 Implication of endogenous opioid systems in the mechanisms of ethanol	20
reinforcement	
1.12 The mesolimbic dopaminergic system and ethanol self-administration	20
1.13 Opioid mechanisms of ethanol reinforcement independent of mesolimbic	22
dopamine	
1.14 Rational, proposed hypothesis and objectives	24
CHAPTER 2: Methods and Materials	31
2.1 Animals	32
2.2 Surgery	32
2.3 Habituation	32

2.4 Microdialysis	33
2.5 Choice of flow rates for microdialysis	34
2.6 Choice of ethanol doses	34
2.7 Histology	36
2.8 Solid-phase radioimmunoassay for β-endorphin, met-enkephalin,	
and dynorphin A <sub>1-8</sub>	
2.9 Specificity of antisera	37
2.10 Data analysis	38
CHAPTER 3: Results	
3.1 Behavioural responses to various doses of ethanol	40
3.2 Probe location	40
3.3 Concentration of $\beta$ -endorphin in the dialysates under basal conditions	40
3.4 Effect of various concentrations of ethanol on the release	43
of $\beta$ -endorphin at the level of the VTA	
3.5 Concentration of met-enkephalin in the dialysates under basal conditions	43
3.6 Effect of various concentrations of ethanol on the release	46
of met-enkephalin at the level of the VTA	
3.7 Concentration of dynorphin $A_{1-8}$ in the dialysates under basal conditions	46
3.8 Effect of various concentrations of ethanol on the release	51

CHAPTER 4: Discussion	54
4.1 Major findings and their significance	55
4.2 Ethanol does not alter the release of enkephalin and dynorphin	.55
peptides at the level of the VTA	
4.3 Biphasic effect of ethanol on the activity of the $\beta$ -endorphin system	57
4.4 Evidence for a biphasic effect of ethanol on nucleus accumbens dopamine release	60
4.5 Significance of the ethanol-induced increase in VTA $\beta$ -endorphin	61
4.6 Time course of VTA β-endorphin release in response to acute	63
ethanol administration	

of dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  at the level of the VTA

4.7 Conclusions and future directions65
References
List of Figures Page
Figure 1.1 Schematic diagram illustrating endogenous opioid connections in
VTA, including $\mu$ opioid receptor-mediated disinhibition from GABA by
$\beta$ -endorphin or met-enkephalin release, and KOR-mediated inhibition
Figure 2.1 BACs measured in tail blood samples, induced by 0.8, 1.6, and
2.4 g/kg doses of I.P. ethanol in Sprague-Dawley rats. (Adapted from
Marinelli et al., 2003. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 169(1): 60-67)
Figure 3.1 Representative photographs showing probe locations in VTA
Diagrams of coronal sections include tracings of approximate probe
locations in subjects used for peptide content analysis
<u>Figure 3.2</u> Extracellular levels of $\beta$ -endorphin at the level of VTA, under
basal conditions for each of the four dose groups
Figure 3.3 Effect of 0.8 g/kg (A), 1.6 g/kg (B) and 2.4 g/kg (C) alcohol on
dialysate $\beta$ -endorphin levels in VTA, expressed as percentage of basal levels
Figure 3.4 Extracellular levels of met-enkephalin at the level of VTA, under
basal conditions for each of the four dose groups
Figure 3.5 Effect of 0.8 g/kg (A), 1.6 g/kg (B) and 2.4 g/kg (C) alcohol on
dialysate met-enkephalin levels in VTA, expressed as percentage of basal levels

<u>Figure 3.6</u> Extracellular levels of dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  at the level of VTA, under ......50 basal conditions for each of the four dose groups

<u>Figure 3.7</u> Effect of 0.8 g/kg (A), 1.6 g/kg (B) and 2.4 g/kg (C) alcohol on dialysate ....52 dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  levels in VTA, expressed as percentage of basal levels

#### Abbreviations

- 6-OHDA: 6-hydroxydopamine
- AA/ANA: Alko-Alcohol/Alco-non-alcohol rat strain
- ANOVA: Analysis of variance
- BAC: Blood alcohol concentration
- B.wt: Body weight
- CPP: Conditioned place preference
- DA: Dopamine
- DAMGO: [D-Ala2,N-Me-Phe4-Gly5-ol]- enkephalin
- DPDPE: [D-Pen2, D-Pen5]- enkephalin
- EtOH: Ethanol
- GABA: Gamma aminobutyric acid
- HAD/ LAD: High/Low alcohol drinking rat strain
- ID/OD: Inner/outer diameter RIA: Radioimmunoassay
- ICV: Intracerebroventricular
- **IP:** Intraperitoneal
- P/NP: Preferring/non-preferring rat lines
- POMC: Pro-opiomelanocortin
- S.A. Specific activity
- WSP/WSR: Withdrawal seizure prone/resistant mouse strain

## CHAPTER 1

Literature Review and Objectives

#### 1.1 The nature of alcohol

CH<sub>3</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>OH or ethyl alcohol, also referred to as ethanol or, more commonly, alcohol, is an organic compound prepared historically through the fermentation of sugars. While ethanol can now be synthetically prepared, its production by fermentation is still common, and it is produced for a wide range of uses including fuel, industrial solvents. and alcoholic food products. The production of ethanol through fermentation has been practiced throughout written history. Indeed, controlled fermentation has been dated as far back as 10 000 B.C., or earlier (Patrick, 1952). Despite the long tradition of fermentation, ethanol use has been proposed to have originated prior to the emergence of Homo Sapiens. Such deep roots are underscored by the profound presence of alcohol in human culture, and its physiological effects on individuals. It has even been suggested that the presence of low levels of ethanol in partially-fermented fruits may have represented a phenomenon significant in processes of natural selection dating back as far as 40 million years (Dudley, 2000). The sustained exposure of frugivores –including the ancestors of modern humans- to traces of ethanol has been posited to have promoted the evolution of a human propensity for ethanol in general, and a maladaptive vulnerability to alcohol abuse and dependence in certain individuals, in particular. Such vulnerability may be due in part to the availability of large amounts of ethanol in societies which produce alcoholic food products, compared to environments in which ethanol occurred independently of human invention - and in which a particular sensitivity to detecting, remembering, or conditioning to ethanol stimuli might be considered adaptive (Dudley, 2002). Although today alcohol is widely available, alcohol associated problems do not afflict every individual who consumes alcohol. Furthermore, despite the possibly deep

roots of the disorder of alcohol addiction in human history, and the possible evolutionary advantages of garnering a sensitivity to ethanol, alcoholism represents a significant problem in societies in which sugars are intentionally fermented for the production of alcoholic beverages.

#### 1.2 Alcohol at the societal level

On a global level, alcohol may be the most prevalent drug of abuse, surpassed only by caffeine (Rajendram et al., 2006). Alcohol consumption is an accepted behaviour in many societies. A survey on drinking in the United States indicated that over 50% of adults consume alcohol, and about 9% meet the DSM-IV criteria for alcohol abuse or dependence (Grant, 1994). While low-to-moderate alcohol consumption may have some health benefits, notably through a possible protective effect against heart disease (Booyse and Parks, 2001), this meager benefit is offset by the comparatively staggering negative effects observed in heavy drinkers and alcohol-dependent individuals. A report from the World Health Organization (2002) indicated that in the year 2000 over 10% of the disease burden in established market economies was attributable to alcoholism, quantified by disability-adjusted life years, a measure factoring both the impact of disability and the premature loss of life. Worldwide, alcohol accounted for 4% of the total number of disability-adjusted life years. In addition to the disease burden attributable to alcoholism, there is a social cost of alcoholism that outpaces that of other common drugs of abuse (Rajendram 2006). Overall the cost of alcohol on Canadian society is in the excess of \$7.5 billion annually (Single et al., 1996).

The magnitude of alcohol's impact on society dictates a need to investigate the factors promoting alcohol abuse and dependence. Indeed, various lines of investigation, ranging from social influences to molecular mechanisms associated with addictive processes may provide a better understanding of the biological and environmental factors associated with the development of alcoholism, may lead to the development of behavioural interventions and pharmacotherapy treatments, and may allow a better control of alcohol-related problems.

#### **1.3 Genetics of alcoholism**

There is experimental evidence indicating that alcoholism is a heritable disease. Investigations with experimental animals and studies of human populations (Hill, 2004; Koob, 2000; Cadoret et al., 1980) strongly support the heritability of alcohol use disorders. Indeed, parents or other relatives of individuals who exhibit alcohol use disorders are likely to have drug-related problems of their own, particularly alcoholrelated problems (Marikangas et al., 1998). While studies of familial alcoholism are useful in demonstrating that alcoholism can be passed from parents to children, they do not necessarily delineate between the mechanisms of transmission of vulnerability, be they genetic or environmental.

Familial transmission of alcoholism is further supported by twin and adoption studies. Adoption studies permit the assessment of the contribution of a given genotype to a particular phenotype by controlling for environmental confounds. In the case of alcoholism, individuals whose biological parents were alcoholics, and were adopted by

non-alcoholic parents, present a higher incidence of alcoholism, regardless of the presence or absence of alcoholism in the adoptive environment (Cadoret et al., 1980).

Twin studies allow the assessment of the genetic contribution to a phenotype, whereby the concordance rate for a disorder is compared between sets of twins, either monozygotic or dizygotic, for a particular phenotype. Environmental confounds are controlled, because twin sets are presumed to experience similar environmental influences (Messas & Vallada Filho, 2004), although additional variation is introduced by specific environmental factors not shared within a twin pair (Prescott et al., 1999). Several such studies, comparing the concordance rates for monozygotic to those of dizygotic twins, have been carried out and have supported a strong genetic component to alcoholism, providing heritability estimates. Such approaches estimate the proportion of phenotypic variation in the expression of alcohol use disorders attributable to genotype, as opposed to environmental factors, to range from 50% to 60% in males and, comparably, from 40% to 60% in females (Hill, 2004).

Alchohol classification schemes, factoring differences in variables such as familial drinking, age of onset, and associated psychological and behavioural profiles, have distinguished different 'types' of alcoholism. A dichotomous typology, originating from Cloninger et al. (1981), classified alcoholism into two major types. Type I is heritable (familial type) and is characterized by an early onset and antisocial personality disorders. Type II is non-heritable (non-familial type) and is characterized by late onset,

and absence of antisocial personality disorder (Cloninger et al., 1981; Hesselbrock, 2006).

#### 1.4 Biological markers of alcoholism

Indeed, there is an increased incidence of alcoholism in children of alcoholics, and these individuals provide an opportunity for the study of heritable biomarkers for alcoholism (Goodwin, 1984; Schuckit, 1988). The identification of biomarkers has been particularly fruitful in studies of familial alcoholism. The study of biomarkers for familial alcoholism may permit a greater understanding of genetic factors contributing to alcoholism per se, rather than looking at extraneous variables, such as common comorbid pathologies that may precipitate, or result from, an accompanied alcohol problem.

Measurements of event-related potentials in offspring of alcoholics, young enough to have had minimal exposure to alcohol, display a diminished amplitude of the P300 component of event-related potentials (Hill et al., 1999), compared with offspring on non-alcoholic parents. Individuals with a positive family history of alcoholism are also reported to display reduced alpha power and heightened beta power in electroencephalograms, independent from measured personality traits (Finn & Justus, 1999). Using tests of musculo-skeletal balance, it was demonstrated that children of alcoholic parents exhibit greater body sway than children of non-alcoholic parents (Lipscomb et al., 1979). Other markers could be of biochemical nature such as enzymes, hormones, neurotransmitters and neuromodulators (Ratsma et al., 2002). Among the neurotransmitter systems associated with the processes of reward and reinforcement of many drugs of abuse, including alcohol, is the endogenous opioid system (Di Chiara et al., 1996; Gianoulakis, 2004). Inherited differences in endogenous opioid system function may render individuals more or less susceptible to the rewarding effects of alcohol (Froehlich et al., 2000). These findings, and others like them, are indicative of latent markers of predisposition to alcoholism, and may offer insights into the genetic factors associated with the vulnerability to high alcohol consumption (Porjesz et al., 2005).

#### 1.5 Endogenous opioid systems

The endogenous opioid system consists of opioid peptides and opioid receptors and is involved in various functions including nociception, thermoregulation, sleep and wakefulness, sexual behavior, eating and drinking, (O'Donohue, 1982; Olson et al., 1995).

#### **Opioid Receptors:**

Stereospecific opiate binding sites were demonstrated in 1973 (Pert & Snyder, 1973; Simon et al., 1973; Terenius, 1973). Currently, the consensus is that the opioid receptors are of three major types: the  $\mu$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\kappa$  receptors (Martin et al., 1976; Gillan & Kosterlitz, 1982; James & Goldstein, 1984), and each receptor type has been further characterized as displaying distinct subtypes (Charness, 1989). The opioid receptor types bear significant homology with one another, and are all seven transmembrane-spanning G-protein-coupled receptors (Mansour et al., 1995). Their activation produces neuron hyperpolarization, achieved through an increase in K<sup>+</sup> conductance by  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  receptors, and through a blocking of voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> conductance by  $\kappa$  receptors (Simmonds,

1988; Su et al., 1998; Alvarez et al., 2002; Pacheco & Duarte, 2005). In the Rat, the  $\mu$  opioid receptors are distributed throughout the brain, in regions that include neocortex, amygdala, hippocampus, striatum, hypothalamus, thalamus, interpeduncular nucleus, substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area, and colliculi (Mansour et al., 1988). The  $\delta$  opioid receptors have been localized in cortical regions, amygdala, striatum, some thalamic and hypothalamic regions, substantia nigra, and nucleus tractus solitarius (Mansour et al., 1988). The  $\kappa$  opioid receptors are found in cortex, amygdala, striatum, thalamus, hypothalamus, and ventral tegmental area (Mansour, 1988).

#### **Opioid** Peptides:

The endogenous opioid peptides are of 3 distinct families, namely, the enkephalins, the endorphins, and the dynorphins (Hughes et al., 1975; Noda et al., 1982; Nakanishi et al., 1979; Bradbury et al., 1976; Li & Chung, 1976; Goldstein et al., 1979; Kakidani et al., 1982). Each family of opioid peptides has its own distinct precursor molecule from which the opioid peptides are derived.

Pro-enkephalin is the high-molecular weight precursor of the family of enkephalin peptides, including met-enkephalin, met-enkephalin-Arg6-Phe7, met-enkephalin-Arg6-Gly7-Leu8, and leu-enkephalin. Enkephalinergic perikaria are considerably spread-out in the brain, including caudate-putamen, arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus, hypothalamic areas, nucleus tractus solitarius, and raphe nucleus. Enkephalinergic terminals are found in mesencephalic regions, globus pallidus, and nucleus accumbens (Akil et al., 1984; Khacheturian et al., 1985). Enkephalins bind to both  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptors, although

with 25 times greater affinity for  $\delta$  than  $\mu$  opioid receptors, and very weak affinity for  $\kappa$  receptors (Khachaturian et al., 1985).

Pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) is the high-molecular weight precursor for the endorphin family of opioid peptides, including  $\beta$ -endorphin (1-31),  $\beta$ -endorphin (1-27),  $\beta$ -endorphin (1-26). Other peptides derived from POMC are  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  melanocyte stimulating hormones, adrenocorticotropic hormone, and corticotrophin-like intermediate lobe peptide. Further processing of  $\beta$ -endorphin (1-31) serves to reduce its binding potency, and associated functional consequences, including a loss of analgesia. Nterminal acetylated  $\beta$ -endorphin is devoid of receptor affinity, and may represent a means of inactivating  $\beta$ -endorphin (Akil et al., 1984; Deakin et al., 1980). Cells synthesizing endorphins are located mainly within the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus, and the nucleus tractus solitarius, as well as the anterior and neurointermediate lobes of the pituitary gland (Akil et al., 1984; Khachaturiuan et al., 1985). From the arcuate nucleus projections of endorphinergic neurons extend and innervate other brain regions, incuding the nucleus accumbens, amygdala, hippocampus, and midbrain (Khacheturian et al., 1985; Zakarian & Smyth, 1982). β-endorphin (1-31) binds with about equal affinity to both  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptors, and presents no, or very low affinity for the  $\kappa$  opioid receptors (Khachaturian et al., 1985).

Prodynorphin is the high molecular weight precursor of the dynorphin family of opioid peptides, including dynorphin A (1-8, 1-17), dynorphin B (1-13, 14-29, 1-29), and  $\alpha/\beta$ -neo-endorphins (Akil et al., 1984). Dynorphin-producing cells are widely distributed

in the brain, in regions including the hypothalamic areas, nucleus tractus solitarius, caudate-putamen, and periaqueductal gray (Akil et al., 1984). Dynorphins bind preferentially to  $\kappa$  opioid receptors (Khachaturian et al., 1985).

#### 1.6 Opioid manipulations: behavioural effects

Numerous investigations on the involvement of endogenous opioid peptides and their receptors in motivational processes have used compounds that may act either as opioid receptor agonists or as antagonists. The role of these compounds in processes of reinforcement and motivation has been tested in numerous experimental paradigms. In a number of such studies, opioid receptors were stimulated by specific or non-specific opioid receptor agonists and the effect on the performance of animals in conditioned place preference (CPP), drug self-administration, and intracranial self-stimulation paradigms was determined. Results indicated that activation of distinct types of opioid receptors may mediate either rewarding or aversive motivational states (Van Ree et al., 1979; Mucha & Iverson, 1984; Bals-Kubic et al., 1989; Van Wofswinkel & Van Ree, 1985).

Studies examining the effects of specific and non-specific opioid receptor agonists in different experimental models of reward and reinforcement have elucidated some of the basic effects of opioid systems in the processes of reward and reinforcement. Using a self-administration paradigm, Van Ree et al. (1979) reported that Wistar rats will learn operant responses for intracerebroventricular (ICV) administration of heroin, a potent  $\mu$ opioid receptor agonist, as well as of  $\beta$ -endorphin, an agonist having high affinity for

both  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptors. Under the CPP paradigm, the reinforcing nature of  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptor activation is further supported. Place preference can be conditioned by  $\mu$  opioid receptor agonists such as morphine, the selective agonist [D-Ala2,N-Me-Phe4-Gly5-ol]- enkephalin (DAMGO), and  $\beta$ -endorphin, as well as by the  $\delta$  opioid receptor agonist [D-Pen2,D-Pen5]- enkephalin (DPDPE), while opioid receptor antagonists that specifically target either  $\mu$  or  $\delta$  opioid receptors seem to reverse CPP (Mucha and Iverson, 1984; Bals-Kubic et al., 1990; Bals-Kubic et al., 1993). Thus, CPP and self-administration studies demonstrate that the activation of  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptors can be reinforcing. On the contrary, agonists that stimulate  $\kappa$  opioid receptor agonists U50,488 and U 69593, and the dynorphin derivative E-2078 have been shown to induce aversion (Mucha and Herz, 1985; Bals-Kubic et al., 1989; Bals-Kubic, 1993).

Other investigative approaches have employed the use of opioid receptor antagonists. In general, blocking the activity of the endogenous opioid receptor systems with either non-specific or receptor-type specific antagonists, the observed loss of CPP would suggest a tonically-active endogenous opioid activity, without which aversive states are produced. The effect of opioid receptor antoagonists on CPP may vary depending on the opioid receptor type targeted. Administration of the non-specific opioid receptor antagonist naloxone, through various routes, is reported to produce a conditioned place aversion in rats (Mucha and Iverson, 1984; Bals-Kubik et al., 1989). Furthermore, the  $\mu$  opioid receptor-specific antagonist CTOP is found to produce conditioned place

aversion, and to abolish the CPP normally produced by  $\beta$ -endorphin. On the other hand, the  $\delta$  and  $\kappa$  opioid receptor antagonists ICI 174,864 and nor-binaltorphimine, respectively, do not induce aversive effects, suggesting that the key action of non-specific opioid receptor antagonists in producing aversive effects is the blockade of tonic  $\mu$  opioid receptor activity (Bals-Kubic et al., 1989; Bals-Kubic et al., 1990). Furthermore, studies using intra-VTA stimulating electrodes demonstrated that opioid receptor antagonists, such as naloxone, raised the reward threshold, which could be lowered by morphine administration (Van Wolfswinkel & Van Ree, 1985).

#### 1.7 Effects of alcohol on the activity of the endogenous opioid systems

In addition to the positive and negative reinforcing effects resulting from various experimental manipulations of endogenous opioid neurotransmission, reports describing the effects of ethanol on endogenous opioid activity further establish the relevance and importance of opioid systems in the processes of alcohol reinforcement. Acute and chronic ethanol exposure has been shown to alter endogenous opioid activity in several ways, affecting opioid peptide biosynthesis and release, as well as receptor binding (Gerrits et al., 2003; Gianoulakis, 2004). Generally, the implication of endogenous opioids in self-administration of drugs of abuse is considered primarily, though not exclusively, to pertain to processes of reward or positive reinforcement, although their involvement in other processes - depending on the extent of the addictive state – such as negative reinforcement, may be equally important in motivating drug self-administration (Di Chiara et al., 1996; Gerrits et al., 2003). Indeed, the response of the endogenous

opioid system to ethanol tends to support its implication in the process of alcohol reward and reinforcement.

Investigations on the response of endogenous opioid systems to acute ethanol exposure have shown a stimulatory effect of ethanol. One approach has been to examine the effect of ethanol on the content of mRNAs coding for the high molecular weight precursors of the opioid peptides, in distinct regions of the rodent brain. Indeed, acute ethanol administration induces increases of POMC mRNA in the hypothalamus and of pro-enkephalin mRNA in nucleus accumbens, and hypothalamic regions, indicating increased biosynthesis of opioid peptides, and suggesting an ethanol-induced activation of opioid neurotransmission/neuromodulation (Morales et al., 2002; Rasmussen et al., 1998; Li et al., 1998; Pastorcic et al., 1994; Gianoulakis et al., 1994). In support of an ethanol-induced increased activity of the endogenous opioid system are reports demonstrating an increased release of opioid peptides in response to acute ethanol exposure (Oswald & Wand, 2004). Furthermore, there are several studies demonstrating that ethanol could produce dose-dependent increases of  $\beta$ -endorphin release from hypothalamic and pituitary tissues in *in vitro* systems (De Waele et al., 1994; De Waele et al., 1992; Gianoulakis, 1990; Gianoulakis et al., 1987; Keith et al., 1986). Additionally, increased release of  $\beta$ -endorphin following acute ethanol administration has been shown in the shell region of the nucleus accumbens (Olive et al., 2001; Marinelli et al., 2003), while increased  $\beta$ -endorphin content has been observed in post-mortem tissue of the VTA and accumbens, at 30 minutes post-ethanol administration (Rasmussen et al., 1998). Though there are fewer studies on the effects of ethanol on the other two families of

opioid peptides, the enkephalins and dynorphins, there are some reports demonstrating that acute ethanol administration increases the content of met-enkephalin in the rat striatum, hypothalamus, and midbrain (Schulz et al., 1980; Seizinger et al., 1983). Furthermore, *in vivo* microdialysis studies have shown a dose-dependent ethanol-induced increase in the release of met-enkephalin at the level of the rat nucleus accumbens, with low to moderate, but not high, ethanol concentrations increasing met-enkephalin release (Marinelli et al., 2005). On the other hand, acute exposure to high, but not low, ethanol concentrations increased the release of dynorphin peptides at the level of the nucleus accumbens (Marinelli et al., 2006).

Interestingly, while studies on the effects of acute (Marinelli et al., 2005; Marinelli et al., 2003; Olive et al., 2001) and of short chronic (Schulz et al., 1980; Angelogianni and Gianoulakis, 1993) ethanol exposure on  $\beta$ -endorphinergic and metenkephalinergic systems demonstrate a stimulatory effect, prolonged chronic ethanol exposure suppresses the activity of the  $\beta$ -endorphin system as indicated by the decrease of hypothalamic and pituitary POMC mRNA content (Rasmussen et al., 2002; Scanlon et al., 1992; Winkler et al., 1995), associated with reduced levels of hypothalamic and plasma  $\beta$ -endorphin (Boyadjieva et al., 1994; Pastorcic et al., 1994 Winkler et al., 1995).

#### 1.8 Animal models in alcoholism and the endogenous opioid system

Though there are a number of human studies investigating both the behavioural and biochemical effects of alcohol, the need for in-depth studies of the neurochemical effects of alcohol at the level of brain regions involved in the processes of reward and reinforcement led to the development of several animal models exhibiting either preference or aversion towards ethanol solutions. Theses animal models were developed by selective inbreeding or out-breeding of either high-drinking males with high-drinking females to produce offspring with preference for alcohol solutions, or of low-drinking males with low-drinking females to produce offspring with no preference for alcohol solutions. Among the most studied animal models of alcoholism are the preferring (P) and non-preferring (NP) rats (Lumeng et al., 1982; Waller et al, 1983), the high alcohol drinking and (HAD) and low alcohol drinking (LAD) rats (Lumeng et al., 1986; Yoshimoto et al., 1992) and the Alko-Alcohol (AA) and Alko-Non-Alcohol (ANA) rats (Erickson, 1968; Sinclair et al, 1989). The P (Penn et al., 1978), HAD (Ritz et al., 1994) and AA (Sinclair et al., 1979) rats will lever-press for ethanol solutions, demonstrating the reinforcing properties of alcohol in these lines of rats. In addition, several inbred lines of mice have been shown to differ in alcohol consumption. Among these are the Withdrawal Seizure Prone (WSP) and Withdrawal Seizure Resistant (WSR) mice (Kosobud et al., 1998) and the C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice (McLearn and Rogers, 1959). The WSP and C57BL/6 mice exhibit a preference for alcohol solutions, while the WSR and DBA/2 mice avoid consumption of alcohol solutions (Kosabud et al., 1988; McLearn and Rogers, 1959; George et al., 1991).

Studies using these selected lines of animals have uncovered differences between ethanol-preferring and non-preferring rodents, with regard to the activities of their respective opioid systems. Ethanol-preferring AA rats, in contrast to non-preferring ANA rats, display higher content of hypothalamic POMC mRNA (Marinelli et al., 2000;

Gianoulakis et al., 1992), and exhibit a greater  $\beta$ -endorphin release response to acute ethanol (De Waele et al., 1994). Studies using the C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice demonstrated that the ethanol-preferring C57BL/6 mice, compared with the nonpreferring DBA/2, display higher levels of spontaneous  $\beta$ -endorphin release from hypothalamic tissue *in vitro*, a greater increase of hypothalamic  $\beta$ -endorphin release in response to ethanol exposure, and greater hypothalamic content of POMC mRNA (De Waele et al., 1992; De Waele et al., 1993; De Waele et al., 1994; Jamensky et al., 1999). In addition, the amount of non-acetylated, opiate-active form of  $\beta$ -endorphin (1-31), released from the hypothalamus in response to ethanol exposure *in vitro* is higher in the AA than ANA rats (De Waele et al., 1992). The alcohol-preferring P rats, compared with the non-preferring NP rats, presented a more pronounced increase of pituitary POMC mRNA levels, in response to repeated ethanol challenges (Krishnan-Sarin et al., 1998).

#### 1.9 Sensitivity of opioid systems to ethanol

Another line of inquiry implicating the endogenous opioid system in ethanol reward and reinforcement involves studies of the effects of manipulations of opioid activity on ethanol reward behaviours, such as drinking and place conditioning. These manipulations include the alteration of opioid receptor activities by administration of opioid agonist and antagonist drugs, as well as through the use of genetic 'knockout' animal models. Results from these studies suggest that the activation of distinct opioid receptor systems may be a crucial step in the sequence of neurological events producing ethanol self-administration by experimental animals (Koob et al., 1992; Gerrits et al., 2003).

An approach extensively used to delineate the role of the endogenous opioid systems in alcohol reinforcement is the use of opioid antagonists. In one report, monkeys pre-trained to self-administer ethanol showed a dose-dependent extinction pattern of operant responding for ethanol self-administration following treatment with the nonspecific opioid receptor antagonist naloxone, indicating the inhibition or attenuation of the rewarding properties of ethanol (Altshuler et al., 1980). Similarly, systemic administration of either naloxone or naltrexone achieved an attenuation of operant responding for, and consumption of, ethanol in rats and mice (Hyytia and Sinclair, 1993; Stromberg et al., 1998; Middaugh et al., 1999; Reid et al., 1991; Hubbel et al., 1986; Samson & Doyle, 1983; Volpicelli et al., 1986; Froelich et al., 1990), and extinguished ethanol conditioned place preference (Cunningham et al., 1998). Intracerebral application of methylnaloxonium, a nonselective opioid antagonist, in the nucleus accumbens has been found to produce similar effects on ethanol drinking (Heyser et al., 1999). Likewise, local application of methylnaloxonium at the level of the VTA is reported to attenuate ethanol-induced CPP (Bechtholt & Cunningham, 2005). Indeed, key support of the findings from these studies is garnered from the similar effects of opioid antagonism on human alcohol consumption and craving (Volpicelli et al., 1992; O'Malley et al., 1992).

The question of specificity of the effects of opioid antagonists, in the attenuation of ethanol drinking could be a cause for concern. Regarding both their clinical applications, and their use in probing the involvement of opioid systems in reinforcement mechanisms, it is of interest that they indeed target ethanol-related behaviours specifically, but it has also been reported that naltrexone can diminish the expression of

CPP for sucrose, as well cocaine (Delamater et al., 2000; Gerrits et al., 1995). However, some overlap between the neural systems mediating drug reward, and those whose function relates to evolutionarily-adaptive, so-called natural rewards may exist (Herz, 1997; Di Chiara et al., 1996). Thus, the observation of some functional overlap between drug and natural rewards following treatments that disrupt one or the other, may be expected. This is certainly relevant to the endogenous opioids, which are involved in numerous reinforcement activities (Van Ree, 1996).

Support for the specificity of the effects of opioid receptor antagonism on ethanolreinforcement is offered through observations that naloxone attenuates ethanol selfadministration without diminishing normal motor activity, or alcohol absorption (Sharpe & Samson, 2001; Linseman & Le, 1997; Morgan et al., 1989). Interestingly, µ opioid receptor antagonism does seem to reduce ethanol-induced locomotor activity (Pastor et al., 2005). Further, in rhesus monkeys trained to self-administer ethanol, treatment with naltrexone reduced drinking, even after a period of imposed abstinence, which typically prompts increased, 'compensatory drinking'. Indeed, this attenuation was achieved without affecting water intake, demonstrating an uncompromised capacity for consumptive activity on one hand, and a diminished motivational potential for ethanol on the other (Kornet et al., 1991). In general, it appears that administration of opioid receptor antagonists influences the processes of ethanol reward and reinforcement with a degree of specificity and without having significant adverse side effects.

#### 1.10 The brain reward system and dopamine

The dopaminergic systems of the midbrain, including the substantia nigra and the VTA, are known to be essential to certain basic survival functions and are associated with a number of pathological conditions. Midbrain dopaminergic fibers, though relatively few in number, originate from the ventral tegmental area and substantia nigra, and innervate numerous other brain regions including frontal cortex, nucleus accumbens, and striatum, creating systems which exert a powerful influence on cognition, motivation, and behaviour (Oswald & Wand, 2004; Björklund and Lindvall, 1984). Bilateral lesions of the mesocorticolimbic dopaminergic system result in a profound state of behavioural unresponsiveness characterized by symptoms such as akinesia, catalepsy, sensory neglect, aphagia, and adipsia (Björklund and Lindvall, 1984; Gerrits & Van Ree, 1996).

The dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area are thought to play an important role in reward and have been shown to be implicated in the development of drug addiction (Wise, 1998). In fact, midbrain DA neurons may be thought of as a common factor underlying the brain's response to most addictive substances (Koob, 1992). Drugs such as cocaine, amphetamine, and methylphenidate act as dopamine agonists, serving as examples of psychoactive drugs which act directly on dopaminergic neurons and can lead to addiction. This is due, in part, to their binding to the presynaptic dopamine reuptake transporter and increasing extracellular concentrations of DA, resulting in a hyperactivation of postsynaptic neurons in the nucleus accumbens and ventral striatal domains of the caudate and putamen (Koob, 1992). The increased DA activity is thought to participate in the subjective rewarding effects of the drug, and

contribute to the syndrome of an addicted state. Other psychoactive drugs, such as ethanol, may also interact with mesolimbic reward systems, albeit in a less direct manner. Various neurochemical systems which exert control over dopaminergic neurons, including endogenous opioid systems, may provide mechanisms by which nonpsychostimulant drugs engage dopaminergic systems.

# 1.11 Implication of endogenous opioid systems in the mechanisms of ethanol reinforcement

Considering the influence of opioids on reinforcement behaviours, the stimulatory effect of ethanol on endogenous opioids, and the alteration of ethanol reinforcement by opioid manipulations, questions are raised regarding the possible mechanisms by which opioids may affect reward and reinforcement. Experimental evidence indicates that the activity of endogenous opioid systems constitutes an important component of the neurological reward processes. Components of the endogenous opioid system (peptides and receptors) are located within brain regions associated with the processes of reward and reinforcement (Akil et al., 1984). Thus, it is of fundamental interest to understand how the endogenous opioid systems are involved in the mesolimbic dopaminergic mechanisms of reward and reinforcement.

#### 1.12 The mesolimbic dopaminergic system and ethanol self-administration

As with other drugs of abuse, increased output of mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons, which originate in the ventral tegmental area and terminate in the nucleus accumbens, is associated with ethanol reinforcement (Weiss et al., 1993; Koob et al.,

1998; Wise 1998). Ethanol that is self-administered increases dopamine release at the level of the nucleus accumbens (Weiss et al., 1993; Weiss et al., 1996; Melendez et al., 2002; Blomqvist et al., 1997). The participation of dopaminergic neurons appears to be an important component of ethanol self-administration, and the VTA appears to be a key site at which their activity is modulated. The VTA itself is one brain region that will support self-infusion of ethanol, and more favorably in P, than NP rats (Rodd-Hendricks et al., 2000a; Gatto et al., 1994). Disruption of dopaminergic neurotransmission through the use of autoreceptor agonist drugs offers one way to assess the role of dopamine in ethanol reinforcement. Dopamine receptors can be expressed pre-synaptically and their stimulation by agonist drugs or dopamine itself, which causes hyperpolarization, distinguishes them as inhibitory-feedback autoreceptors (Rodd et al., 2004b). The microinjection of D2 and D3 dopamine receptor agonists at the level of the VTA exerts an inhibitory action on dopaminergic neuron activity, and attenuates ethanol intake by rats trained for ethanol self-administration (Hodge et al., 1993; Nowak et al, 2000; Congar et al., 2002; Rodd et al., 2004b; Rodd et al., 2005a).

Furthermore, postsynaptic dopamine receptor antagonists dose-dependently decrease ethanol self-administration (Samson and Hodge, 1993), and genetic knockout mice for the D1 receptor gene display a reduced preference for ethanol (El-Ghundi et al., 1998). Additionally, VTA dopaminergic activity is increased by drinking in mice that have been chronically-exposed to ethanol, particularly so in ethanol-preferring C57BL/6, compared to DBA/2 mice, implicating mechanisms that enhance the activity of mesolimbic dopamine in the processes of ethanol reward and reinforcement (Brodie
2002; Brodie and Appel, 2002; Brodie et al., 1999; Gessa et al., 1985). Thus, strain differences in the ethanol-induced increase of mesolimbic dopamine activity may contribute to the strain differences in voluntary ethanol consumption. In addition to the attenuation of alcohol self-administration behaviour, administration of naltrexone prior to the self-administration opportunity will also inhibit the ethanol-induced increase of dopamine release (Gonzales & Weiss, 1998; Benjamin et al., 1993; Koistinen et al., 2001). Furthermore, *in vitro* and *in vivo* sensitization of dopaminergic activity to repeated ethanol exposure can be attenuated by naltrexone (Brodie et al., 1990; Brodie et al., 1995).

# 1.13 Opioid mechanisms of ethanol reinforcement independent of mesolimbic dopamine

Interestingly, other investigations on the roles of dopamine and opioids in ethanol reinforcement, have used 6-OHDA lesions to selectively destroy VTA dopamine cells. In several of such studies, it was found that the destruction of these neurons does not affect maintenance, nor even acquisition of ethanol self-administration behaviours in rodents (Koistinen et al., 2001; Ikemoto et al.,1997; Rassnick et al., 1993). Furthermore, Koistinen et al. (2001) found that in 6-OHDA-lesioned animals, naltrexone could still attenuate drinking, indicating the presence of dopamine-independent opioid mechanisms of ethanol reinforcement. These findings contrast with studies employing drugs that induce acute deactivation of dopaminergic signaling, which typically disrupts initiation and maintenance of ethanol self-administration (Rodd et al., 2004b; Nowak et al., 2000). Furthermore, the finding that chronic disruption of dopamine neurotransmission fails to attenuate ethanol self-administration does not necessarily detract from the importance of dopamine signaling in ethanol reinforcement. The differential effects of acute dopaminergic disruption and 6-OHDA lesions on ethanol self-administration have been explained by a functional adaptation hypothesis. Intrinsic to the methods of studies employing 6-OHDA is the tendency to allow experimental animals several days or weeks to recover from surgery before commencement of subsequent testing. Similar to studies of genetic 'knockouts' in which there is a possibility that developmental neuroadaptation may occur in response to, and to compensate for, a loss of function, lesion studies too, may result in functional compensations. In 6-OHDA lesion studies, the animals' capacity for ethanol reward may be restored following dopamine lesions, perhaps through greater involvement of dopamine-independent reinforcement mechanisms. Indeed, one point at which this may occur is at the level of opioid release in the nucleus accumbens which, similar to dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens, can decrease the activity of accumbal medium spiny neurons (Wise, 1998; Koistinen et al., 2001). Thus, an alteration of opioid peptide-receptor interactions offer one possible level at which functional changes may facilitate a compensation for 6-OHDA lesion (Cowen & Lawrence, 1999; Wise, 1998; Koistinen et al., 2001). Intriguingly, 6-OHDA lesions successfully disrupt self-administration of psychostimulants, whose mechanism of action is much more closely dependent on dopamine neurotransmission (Antoniou et al., 1998; Roberts & Koob, 1982), perhaps underscoring the complexity of ethanol reinforcement owing to its more ubiquitous effects throughout the brain. Chronic deactivation of dopaminergic activity by lesions serves to highlight non-dopaminergic processes mediating ethanol reinforcement, including actions of opioids outside of the VTA. Nevertheless,

considering the results of acute dopamine disruption studies using dopamine agonists and antagonists, the non-VTA sites of opioid action that naltrexone can disrupt, and the time allowed in lesion studies for functional adaptations to occur, the failure of 6-OHDA lesions to disrupt ethanol self-administration does not negate the possibility for an opioid role in mediating ethanol reinforcement through a mechanism involving the mesolimbic dopaminergic system (Ikemoto et al., 1997).

The activity, or more specifically the muting of the activity, of GABAergic interneurons or projection neurons that terminate in the VTA appears to comprise an important link in the VTA between endogenous opioid receptor activity, and dopaminergic activity. The activation of  $\mu$  and possibly  $\delta$  receptors on VTA GABA interneurons or projection neurons serves to hyperpolarize, and prevent the inhibitory influences of GABA neurotransmission on dopamine neurons (Wise, 1998; Johnson & North, 1992). In this way, inhibition of GABAergic neurons by opioid agonists like morphine produces increased firing of dopamine neurons at the shell, but not the core, of the nucleus accumbens, and this effect can be reversed by GABAb agonism (Gysling and Wang, 1983; Johnson and North, 1992; Kimberly et al., 2003). Thus, the activation of dopaminergic neurons induced by ethanol administration may be due, at least in part, to an opioid-mediated inhibition of GABAergic neurons at the level of the VTA, as depicted in figure 1.1.

#### 1.14 Rational, proposed hypothesis and objectives.

There is experimental evidence supporting a role of the endogenous opioid system in ethanol reinforcement (Gerrits et al., 2003; Lê et al., 2001; Gianoulakis, 2004). Based on

many studies it has been proposed that the endogenous opioid system may mediate the reinforcing effects of alcohol by influencing the activity of the mesolimbic dopaminergic system as shown in figure 1.1. Thus it is proposed that reinforcing doses of ethanol (low to moderate doses) may increase the release of  $\beta$ -endorphin and enkephalin peptides and decrease or not alter the release of dynorphin peptides in brain regions associated with the processes of reward and reinforcement such as nucleus accumbens and VTA. On the other hand high doses of alcohol known to induce aversive effects (Koob, 1992) may stimulate the release of dynorphin peptides with no significant effect on the release of  $\beta$ endorphin or enkephalin peptides. In support of this hypothesis *in vivo* microdialysis studies have shown that at the level of nucleus accumbens low to moderate doses of alcohol increase the release of  $\beta$ -endorphin and met-enkephalin but not of dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub> peptides, while high doses increase the release of dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  but not of  $\beta$ -endorphin and met-enkephalin peptides (Marinelli et al., 2004; Marinelli et al., 2005; Olive 2001; Marinelli et al., 2006). At the level of VTA, interactions of endorphins and enkephalins with  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptors on GABA interneurons may decrease the GABA inhibitory effect on the A10 dopamine neurons, increasing DA release in the nucleus accumbens, and may initiate the processes of reward and reinforcement. Interactions of dynorphins with  $\kappa$  opioid receptors on the A10 dopaminergic neurons may decrease dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens, produce aversive states, and may prevent reinforcement (Oswald & Wand, 2004). Considering the innervation of VTA by axons of endorphinergic neurons from the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus as well as the presence of met-enkephalin and dynorphin peptide-producing neurons and of  $\mu$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\kappa$ 



<u>Figure 1.1</u> Schematic diagram illustrating endogenous opioid connections in VTA, including  $\mu$  opioid receptor-mediated disinhibition of the A10 dopamine neurons from GABA by  $\beta$ -endorphin or met-enkephalin release, and  $\kappa$  receptor-mediated inhibition of the A10 dopamine neurons. (-) indicates inhibition.

opioid receptors at the level of the VTA (Khacheturian, 1985; Mansour et al., 1988), the proposed involvement of distinct components of the opioid system in the activation of the mesolimbic dopamine is possible. In support of such involvement, Gonzales and Weiss (1998) demonstrated that opioid antagonism using naloxone and naltrexone, at the level of the VTA, can inhibit the ethanol-induced increase of dopaminergic activity, and ethanol reinforcement behaviours. Indeed ethanol-induced increases of dopamine release at the level of nucleus accumbens could be mediated by the ethanol-induced activation of the opioid system at the level of the VTA. (Spanagel et al., 1992; Gonzales & Weiss, 1998; Marinelli et al., 2003). There is only a small number of studies examining the effects of manipulation of specific opioid receptor types, directly at the level of VTA, on the ethanol-induced increase of mesolimbic dopaminergic activity (Samson et al., 1997; Yim et al., 1998). Based on some experimental evidence and the hypothetical model described by figure 1.1, an inhibitory effect on the ethanol-induced increase of mesolimbic dopaminergic activity by either  $\mu$  or  $\delta$  opioid receptor antagonism at the level of the VTA is expected (Benjamin et al., 1993; Gonzales & Weiss, 1998; Hyytia and Kiianmaa, 2001).

Currently, evidence indicates that alcohol may indeed increase VTA  $\beta$ endorphinergic activity. One study investigating the  $\beta$ -endorphin content in the VTA following acute ethanol administration has provided some information on the ethanolinduced changes of  $\beta$ -endorphin release at the level of VTA (Rasmussen et al., 1998). In this study, it is reported that the administration by intragastric infusion of low-tomoderate doses of ethanol, producing blood ethanol concentrations (BAC) in the range of 80-150 mg ethanol/dl blood in Sprague-Dawley rats, produced an elevation in the tissue levels of  $\beta$ -endorphin in the VTA, at 30 minutes post-ethanol administration.

One aim of the current study was to add further clarity on the response of VTA  $\beta$ endorphin to ethanol by addressing some limitations of the study by Rasmussen et al. (1998). One limitation of the study by Rasmussen et al. (1998) was the lack of information on the time course of the  $\beta$ -endorphin response to ethanol since it was assayed from post-mortem tissue, and only at one time point. In the current study, the use of *in vivo* microdialysis allows the sampling of dialysate samples for the estimation of  $\beta$ endorphin at multiple time points prior to and post-ethanol treatment, permitting the monitoring of changes with time. Additionally, Rasmussen et al. (1998) provide an assessment of the overall tissue content of  $\beta$ -endorphin. While tissue content assessment can allow the observation of a change from basal values, it is difficult to discern whether changes reflect peptide release or whether they reflect a change in peptide biosynthesis and/or degredation. The in vivo microdialysis technique coupled with solid-phase radioimmunoassay used in the current study permit the assessment of extracellular levels of opioid peptides in VTA, thus allowing an estimate of peptide release. Finally, the current study expands on that of Rasmussen and colleagues (1998) by employing a greater range of ethanol doses, leading to BAC in the range of 60-300 mg ethanol/dl blood.

Previous studies demonstrated a transient reduction in the binding of <sup>3</sup>H-DAMGO (a specific  $\mu$  opioid receptor agonist) to  $\mu$  opioid receptors at the level of VTA, following

ethanol administration (Mendez et al., 2001). This reduced binding of <sup>3</sup>H-DAMGO may be attributed to an increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release (an opioid peptide with a high affinity for µ opioid receptors) at the level of VTA in response to ethanol. However, metenkephalin, though it has higher affinity for  $\delta$  opioid receptors, may also bind to  $\mu$  opioid receptors (Khachaturian et al., 1985). Therefore, the ethanol-induced reduction in the binding of <sup>3</sup>H-DAMGO to µ binding sites at the level of VTA may be attributed, at least in part, to an ethanol-induced increase in the release of met-enkephalin peptides in the VTA. While doubt may be cast on such a possibility by other findings, such as a reported decrease in VTA pro-enkephalin mRNA levels at 30 minutes following acute ethanol administration of a high dose of ethanol (2.5 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.) in Wistar rats (Mendez & Morales-Mulia, 2006), as well as lower VTA basal levels of pro-enkephalin mRNA in Sardinian ethanol-preferring rats, compared to non-preferring rats (Fadda et al., 1999), a direct measurement of the response of met-enkephalin, at the level of the VTA to various doses of ethanol has not yet been determined. Thus, a second aim of the current study was to estimate the changes in the extracellular concentration of met-enkephalin at the level of VTA in response to acute exposure to various doses of ethanol, using the in vivo microdialysis technique.

While there are few reports on the effects of acute ethanol on the activity of dynorphinergic systems at the level of the VTA, the presence of dynorphinergic terminals and  $\kappa$  opioid receptors in the VTA (Mansour et al. ,1988; Akil et al., 1984) and the responsiveness of mesolimbic activity to ethanol and kappa receptor manipulations (Gessa et al., 1985; Spanagel et al., 1992) allow for the possibility that acute ethanol may

alter dopaminergic activity via dynorphin peptides released at the level of the VTA and influence the process of ethanol reinforcement. Furthermore, comparisons of the endogenous opioid systems between ethanol-preferring and non-preferring mouse strains have detected differences in the content of dynorphin  $A_{1.8}$  in brain regions including the VTA, (Jamensky & Gianoulakis, 1997), suggesting that differences in ethanol preference could also be related to variations in dynorphinergic activity. Thus, since  $\kappa$  opioid receptor stimulation has been implicated in reducing mesolimbic dopaminergic activity, and possibly mediating aversive states (Koob, 1998), a third aim of the current studies is to investigate changes of dynorphin  $A_{1.8}$  release at the level of VTA following acute administration of various doses of ethanol using the *in vivo* microdialysis technique. Such information will allow the assessment of the impact of dynorphin peptides on ethanol reinforcement.

Thus, the main objective of the current studies was to investigate the hypothesis that acute ethanol exposure alters the release of the three endogenous opioid peptides at the level of the VTA in a dose-dependent manner. To investigate the changes over time in the release of  $\beta$ -endorphin, met-enkephalin, and dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub>, following acute administration of various doses of ethanol, the *in vivo* microdialysis technique coupled with specific solid phase radioimmunoassays were employed. Results from the proposed investigations will allow a better understanding of the response of the opioid peptides to various doses of ethanol and their possible involvement in ethanol reinforcement.

# CHAPTER 2

Methods and Materials

### 2.1 Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River, St-Constant, QC, Canada), weighing 280 – 350 g, were used. Rats were housed individually (to prevent gnawing of cannulae), and had access to food and water *ad libitum*. A period of at least one week was allowed for acclimatization prior to the initiation of experiments. Animals were kept in a temperature and humidity-controlled environment, on a 12-h light/dark cycle (lights on at 8:00 a.m.; off at 8:00 p.m.). Rats were treated in accordance with McGill University's Policy on the Handling and Treatment of Laboratory animals and the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

### 2.2 Surgery

Prior to surgical procedures, rats were anaesthetized with a cocktail comprised of ketamine (50 mg/kg), xylazine (5 mg/kg), and acepromazine (1 mg/kg). Guide cannulae (20 mm shaft length; 1mm O.D., S.P.E. Ltd., Concord, ON, Canada) were stereotaxically implanted at the coordinates, relative to bregma, of anteroposterior -0.6 mm, mediolateral +0.09 mm, dorsoventral -0.58 mm (from dura mater). Cannulae were anchored in place using 3 stainless steel screws and dental cement, and were blocked with obturators. A tether screw, to which microdialysis tethers would be connected, was also affixed to the dental cement. Animals were given 3-5 days to recover from surgery prior to habituation.

### 2.3 Habituation

Habituation and microdialysis were carried out in round, black, plastic testing cages measuring 31 (diameter) x 30 (height) cm. On three occasions, given on alternate days, rats were housed in the testing cages overnight. On the following day, rats received single intraperitoneal (IP) injections of sterile saline solution, to acclimatize them to the manipulations that they would experience during microdialysis testing. Rats remained untethered during habituation sessions.

### 2.4 Microdialysis

Following the third habituation session rats were weighed, obturators were removed, and microdialysis probes (20 mm shaft length, 0.6 O.D., 2 mm PES membrane, 15 kD cutoff; S.P.E.) were implanted under light isoflurane (Janssen, Toronto, ON, Canada) anaesthesia. A syringe pump (Harvard Apparatus, Mass., USA) was set to infuse artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF: 124 mM sodium chloride, 3 mM potassium choride, 1 mM magnesium chloride-6H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mM sodium phosphate monobasic-H<sub>2</sub>O, 5 mM Sodium phosphate dibasic, 1.3 mM calcium chloride-2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 mM L-ascorbic acid, 0.025% bovine serum albumin) overnight at a rate of 0.2 µl/min. PTFE tubing (0.56 mm I.D.; Cole-Parmer, Vernon Hills, Ill., USA) connected the pump to a dual-channel swivel (Instech, Plymouth Meeting, Pa., USA). The swivel was counter-balanced on an arm that swung laterally and vertically with the animals' movements. FEP tubing (0.12 mm I.D., CSC, Montreal, QC, Canada) ran to and from the probe through a stainless-steel spring tether that was connected to the tether srew. Dialysate was collected in 500 µl polypropylene vials immersed in ice. At 8:00 a.m. the following day, the pump rate was increased to 2 µl/min, and following a 2-hour period, dialysate collections at 30-minute

intervals commenced. At 12:00 p.m., rats were injected I.P. with 0.0, 0.8, 1.6, or 2.4 g ethanol/kg as a solution of 0, 5, 10, or 15 % (v/v), respectively, in 0.9% saline, ensuring volume-matched injections across dose groups. Dialysate samples were promptly frozen in  $CO_2$  prior to storage at -70°C.

#### 2.5 Choice of flow rates for microdialysis

The choice of the flow rate of 2.0  $\mu$ l/min for the microdialysis studies was based on published reports from ours and other laboratories, on the recovery profiles of  $\beta$ endorphin (Olive et al., 2001), enkephalin (Marinelli et al., 2004; Kendrick, 1990), and dynorphin (Marinelli et al. 2006), using probes having the same specifications as those used in the present investigations (20 mm shaft length, 0.6 O.D., 2 mm PES membrane, 15 kD cutoff; S.P.E.). Recovery profiles were estimated for each peptide using a range of flow rates from 0.5 to 3.0  $\mu$ l/min. It was observed that, as expected, the lower the flow rate, the higher the percent recovery, but the lower the absolute recovery. The 2.0  $\mu$ l/min flow rate used in the present investigations gave recovery rates of approximately 8%, 15%, and 10% for  $\beta$ -endorphin, enkephalin, and dynorphin, respectively.

### 2.6 Choice of alcohol doses

Doses of 0.8, 1.6, and 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt., administered intraperitoneally as 5%, 10%, and 15% (v/v), respectively, were chosen because (a) these dose steps can encompass a broad range of doses, requiring fewer groups of animals than smaller dose-step gradations, such as 0.5 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. steps, (b) these doses have been used previously in our studies on the effect of acute ethanol exposure on the release of opioid



Figure 2.1 Blood alcohol concentration (BAC), measured in tail blood samples at distinct time points after the IP injections of 0.8, 1.6, and 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt in Sprague-Dawley rats (With permission, from Marinelli et al., 2003. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 169(1): 60-67).

peptides at the level of NACB (Marinelli et al., 2003; 2005; 2006), and would allow us to compare the ethanol-induced changes in the release of opioid peptides between the brain regions of NACB and VTA, and (c) the BACs achieved following administration of these doses of alcohol had been previously determined and were found to be significantly different from one another (figure 2.1) (Marinelli et al., 2003; 2005; 2006).

## 2.7 Histology

Following the microdialysis session the rats were euthanized with  $CO_2$  and decapitated, and brains were removed and snap-frozen in isopentane, and stored at -70° C. Frozen brains were sectioned into 40 µm slices and mounted on gelatin-coated slides. Slides were Nissl-stained and inspected for accuracy of probe placement. Subjects in which the VTA was not accurately targeted were excluded from peptide content assessment.

# 2.8 Solid-phase radioimmunoassay for $\beta$ -endorphin, met-enkephalin, and dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub>

Dialysate peptide concentrations were determined using a solid phase radioimmunoassay (after Maidment and Evans, 1991; Marinelli et al., 2003; 2005; 2006). Ninety-six removable-well microplates (Dynex Microlite 2, Chantilly, Va., USA) were filled with 0.8 µg protein A (Sigman, St Louius, Mo., USA) /100 µl 0.1 M sodium bicarbonate (pH approx. 8.4) and incubated for 24 h at 4°C. The next day, wells were emptied and rinsed with 200 µl buffer (0.15 M potassium phosphate dibasic, 0.2 mM Lascorbic acid, 0.1% Tween 20, 0.1% gelatin, pH adjusted to 7.4 with 10 N hydrochloric acid). A 50 µl aliquot of antiserum specific for  $\beta$ -endorphin (1:5000 dilution), metenkephalin (1:5000 dilution), or dynorphin A1-8 (1:5000 dilution) was placed in each well and incubated for 24 h at 4°C. After a 24-hour incubation at 4°C wells were again rinsed with 200 µl buffer. 50 µl of appropriately diluted dialysate samples or standards (diluted in buffer) were added to wells, and again incubated for 24 hours at 4°C. Then, 50 µl of either iodinated  $\beta$ -endorphin (5000-6000 cpm/50 µl, specific activity (SA) 74 TBq/mmol; Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Buckinghamshire, UK), iodinated metenkephalin (5000-6000 cpm/50µl, SA = 1208-2078 Ci/mmol, Peninsula Laboratories, Inc.), or iodinated dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub> (5000-6000 cpm/50µl, SA = 1841-2037 Ci/mmol, Peninsula Laboratories Inc.) was added to each well, and incubated for 48 hours at 4°C. Following this incubation, wells were emptied and rinsed, and put into 5 ml polypropylene culture tubes and counted on a gamma-ray counter (Corbra II; Packard, Meriden, Conn, USA). The detection limit of these assays was 0.5 pg/tube, and the IC50 was 50 pg/tube for  $\beta$ -endorphin, 196 pg/tube for met-enkephalin, and 2 pg/tube for dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub>.

## 2.9 Specificity of antisera

The antibody used for  $\beta$ -endorphin detection was specific for the C-terminal of  $\beta$ endorphin and recognized proopiomelanocortin,  $\beta$ -lipotropin, and both acetylated and non-acetylated forms of  $\beta$ -endorphin 1-31, 1-27, and 1-26. This antibody didn't recognize adrenocorticotropic hormone, alpha-melanotropin, or  $\beta$ -lipotropin fragments 1-65, 62-67, and 80-84 (Gianoulakis and Gupta, 1986). Met-enkephalin antiserum (Peninsula Laboratories, Inc., San Carlos, CA) product specifications indicate that the antibody presents cross-reactivity with Met-enkephalin (100%), Leu-enkephalin (2.8%), Metenkephalin-Arg-Phe (0.1%), and  $\beta$ -endorphin (0.1%), and no cross-reactivity with Metenkephalin-Arg-Gly-Leu, dynorphin A1-17, adrenocorticotropic hormone, or endothelin-1. Dynorphin A1-8 antiserum (Peninsula Laboratories Inc, San Carlos, CA), displays cross-reactivity with dynorphin A1-8 (100%), large dynorphin, dynorphin A, dynorphin A1-13, and dynorphin A1-9 (less than 0.01%), and no cross-reactivity with dynorphin A1-7, dynorphin A1-6, dynorphin A6-17, dynorphin B,  $\beta$ -endorphin, Met-enkephalin, alpha-neoendorphin, and leu-enkephalin-arg.

### 2.10 Data analysis

Basal dialysate concentrations of each peptide assayed ( $\beta$ -endorphin, metenkephalin, or dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub>) were analyzed for the four ethanol dose groups using oneway, independent samples ANOVAs. The effect of ethanol on the extracellular levels of each peptide was estimated as a percent change from the four baseline measurements. The data of the percent change from baseline for each peptide were analyzed using a mixed 2-way ANOVA with ethanol dose as the independent variable and time as the repeated variable. Analysis of main effects and interactions was done with the Tukey post hoc test and simple ANOVAs. Significance was regarded at *p* < 0.05 level.

# CHAPTER 3

Results

### 3.1 Behavioural responses to various doses of ethanol

In the present investigation animals were injected IP with, three doses of ethanol and a volume-matched saline control. Among the behavioural responses observed following ethanol administration was higher activity shortly after administration of the lower doses of ethanol (0.8 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.), and behavioural depression and hypnosis following higher doses of ethanol (1.6 and 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.). Blood alcohol concentrations (BAC) were estimated from the tail blood at various time points following the IP injection of ethanol using different groups of rats from those used in microdialysis experiments and have been previously reported (Marinelli et al., 2003; 2005; 2006), as shown in figure 2.1.

#### **3.2 Probe location**

Figure 3.1 shows tracks left by microdialysis probes, identified in 40  $\mu$ m Nissl stained coronal sections, which were plotted on a stereotaxic map of the VTA -6.3, -6.04, and -5.8 mm from bregma. The animals in which the VTA was considered to be accurately targeted were included in peptide content assessment and data analysis.

## 3.3 Concentration of $\beta$ -endorphin in the dialysates under basal conditions

Mean basal values of  $\beta$ -endorphin, illustrated in figure 3.2, were assessed for each ethanol dose group, using the four 30 minute dialysate collections taken prior to ethanol or saline administration. Basal  $\beta$ -endorphin values were statistically analyzed using a one-way, independent variables ANOVA and revealed no significant difference in basal  $\beta$ -endorphin levels between the four ethanol dose groups (*P*>0.05).



Figure 3.1 A: Representative photographs of the VTA. Arrows indicate probe location. B: Diagrams of coronal sections indicating the position (in mm) posterior from bregma. Lines indicate tracings of approximate probe locations in the brains of the subjects used for peptide content analysis.

**β-Endorphin Basal Values** 



Figure 3.2 Content of β-endorphin in the dialysate samples collected at the level of VTA, under basal conditions for each ethanol dose group. For each animal the mean βendorphin content in the 4 baseline collections of the dialysate was used. The number of animals in each group were 8, 8, 9, and 10 for the 0.0, 0.8, 1.6, and 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose groups, respectively. One way ANOVA indicated no significant difference for the basal β-endorphin levels among the 4 dose groups (p > .05).

# 3.4 Effect of various concentrations of ethanol on the release of $\beta$ -endorphin at the level of the VTA

Figures 3.3 A, B, and C present the changes in the dialysate  $\beta$ -endorphin content, following IP injection of 0.0, 0.8, 1.6, or 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt., expressed as a percentage of the basal values. The mixed, two-way ANOVA, in which treatment was the non-repeated measure, and collection time points were the repeated measure demonstrated a significant main effect of dose [F(3, 30)=5.72, P=0.0032], and of collection time [F(8, 240)=7.93, P < 0.0001], and no significant interaction between dose and time (P=0.154). Tukeys honestly significant difference post-hoc tests revealed that  $\beta$ endorphin release was significantly greater in the 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose group than in the saline control, the 0.8, and the 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. groups. Thus, animals receiving 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. presented significantly greater  $\beta$ -endorphin release than those receiving saline (P < 0.05).  $\beta$ -endorphin release in the dose groups receiving 0.8 or 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. did not significantly differ from the saline group (P>0.05) or each other. A significant main effect of time was also found [F(8, 240)=7.93, P<0.0001]. Tukey's post-hoc testing revealed significant increases from basal values in all eight dialysate collections following the IP administration of 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.wt (P<0.0001). No significant differences from basal values were observed following all other treatments (*P*>0.05).

#### 3.5 Concentration of met-enkephalin in the dialysates under basal conditions

Mean basal values of met-enkephalin, (figure 3.4), were assessed for each ethanol dose group using the four 30 minute dialysate collections taken prior to ethanol or saline

Figure 3.3 Direct comparison of the effect of 0.8 (A), 1.6 (B), and 2.4 (C) g ethanol/kg B.wt with the effect of saline (0.0 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.) on dialysate  $\beta$ -endorphin levels in VTA, expressed as percentage of basal levels. Basal levels were estimated as the mean of the  $\beta$ -endorphin content in the first four 30-minute dialysate collections preceding the IP injection of the saline or alcohol solution, and were considered as 100%. Arrow indicates the time of IP injection of saline or ethanol. n indicates the number of animals for each dose group. Error bars denote SEM. \* denotes significant difference of the corresponding time point from the basal values (p < 0.05). + indicates significant difference from the saline treated group at the same time point (p < 0.05).



Figure 3.3

administration. Basal met-enkephalin values were statistically analyzed using a one-way, independent variables ANOVA. Analysis revealed no significant difference in basal levels between the four ethanol dose groups (P>0.05).

# 3.6 Effect of various concentrations of ethanol on the release of met-enkephalin at the level of the VTA

Figures 3.5 A, B, and C represent the changes in the dialysate met-enkephalin content following IP injections of 0.0, 0.8, 1.6, 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt, expressed as a percentage of the basal values. The mixed, two-way ANOVA, with treatment the non-repeated measure, and collection time points the repeated measure, demonstrated no significant main effect of dose [F(3, 29)=0.25, P=0.8610], a significant main effect of collection time point [F(8, 232)=4.38, P<0.0001], and no significant interaction between dose and time (P=0.9). Post hoc testing, using Tukey's honestly significant difference test, revealed a general increase at 150, 180, 210, and 240 minutes compared with baseline (P<0.05), although further Tukey's tests did not reveal significant differences, in any of the treatment groups, between the met-enkephalin content at the various time points and the basal values (P>0.05).

#### 3.7 Concentration of dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub> in the dialysates under basal conditions

The mean basal values of dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$ , as shown in figure 3.6, were assessed for each ethanol dose group using the four 30 minute dialysate collections taken prior to ethanol or saline administration. Basal dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  values were statistically analyzed using a one-

# Met-Enkephalin Basal Values



Figure 3.4 Content of met-enkephalin in dialysate samples collected at the level of VTA, under basal conditions for each ethanol dose group. For each animal the mean metenkephalin content in the 4 baseline collections of the dialysate was used. The number of animals were 7, 8, 9, and 9 for the 0.0, 0.8, 1.6, and 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose groups, respectively. One way ANOVA indicated no significant difference for the basal metenkephalin levels among the 4 dose groups (p > .05).

Figure 3.5 Direct comparison of the effect of 0.8 (A), 1.6 (B), and 2.4 (C) g ethanol/kg B.wt with the effect of saline (0.0 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.) on dialysate met-enkephalin levels in VTA, expressed as percentage of basal levels. Basal levels were estimated as the mean of the met-enkephalin content in the initial four 30-minute dialysate collections preceding the IP injection of saline or ethanol, and were considered as 100%. Arrow indicates the time of IP injection of saline or ethanol administration. Error bars denote SEM. n indicates the number of animals for each dose group.



Figure 3.5



Figure 3.6 Content of dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  in dialysate samples collected at the level of VTA, under basal conditions for each ethanol dose group. For each animal the mean dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  content in the initial 4 baseline collections of the dialysate was used. The number of animals were 5, 8, 6, and 7 for the 0.0, 0.8, 1.6, and 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose groups, respectively. One way ANOVA indicated no significant difference for the basal dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  levels among the 4 dose groups (p > .05).

way, independent variables ANOVA. The analysis indicated no significant difference in the basal levels of dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  between the four dose groups (*P*>0.05).

# 3.8 Effect of various concentrations of ethanol on the release of dynorphin $A_{1-8}$ at the level of the VTA

Figures 3.7 A, B, and C represent the changes in the dialysate dynorphin  $A_{1.8}$  content following IP injection of 0.0, 0.8, 1.6, or 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt, expressed as a percentage of basal values. The mixed, two-way ANOVA, with treatment the non-repeated measure, and collection time points the repeated measure, indicated no significant main effect of ethanol dose [F(3, 33)=0.39, *P*=0.7632], a significant main effect of collection time points [F(8, 242)=1.91, *P*=0.039], and no significant interaction between dose and collection time points (*P*=0.836). Post hoc analysis using the Tukey's test did not reveal significant differences between the dynorphin  $A_{1.8}$  content at the various time points and the basal values (*P*>0.05).

Figure 3.7 Direct comparison of the effect of 0.8 (A), 1.6 (B), and 2.4 (C) g ethanol/kg B.wt with the effect of saline (0.0 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.) on dialysate dynorphin  $A_{1.8}$  levels in VTA, expressed as percentage of basal levels. Basal levels were estimated as the mean of the dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  content in the initial four 30-minute dialysate collections preceding the IP injection of saline or ethanol, and were considered as 100%. Arrow indicates the time of ethanol administration. n indicates the number of animals for each dose group. Error bars denote S.E.M.



Figure 3.7

# CHAPTER 4

Discussion

#### 4.1 Major findings and their significance

Using the *in vivo* microdialysis technique the response of the three major opioid peptide systems (endorphins, enkephalins, and dynorphins) to various doses of ethanol at the level of the VTA was investigated in Sprague-Dawley rats. Among the major findings of the present investigations were (a) the biphasic effect of ethanol on the release of  $\beta$ endorphin with moderate (1.6 g ethanol /kg B.Wt.) but not low (0.8 g ethanol /kg B.Wt.) or high (2.4 g ethanol /kg B.Wt.) doses of ethanol inducing a significant increase of  $\beta$ endorphin release, and (b) the lack of a significant effect of ethanol, at the doses tested, on the release of enkephalin and dynorphin peptides. These observations suggest that at the level of the VTA,  $\beta$ -endorphin may be the opioid peptide which, through its interactions with  $\mu$  or possibly  $\delta$  opioid receptors on GABA interneurons inhibits GABA neurotransmission leading to disinhibition of the A10 mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons and increased release of dopamine at the level of the nucleus accumbens. Therefore, this ethanol-induced stimulation of  $\beta$ -endorphin release at the level of the VTA may play a significant role in mediating some of the reinforcing effects of ethanol.

# 4.2 Ethanol does not alter the release of enkephalin and dynorphin peptides at the level of the VTA

While acute ethanol administration induced an alteration of  $\beta$ -endorphin release, the levels of met-enkephalin and dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub> were, contrary to the proposed hypothesis, not affected. The anatomical positioning of opioid systems within the VTA, including the presence of met-enkephalin and dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub>, as well as  $\delta$ ,  $\mu$ , and  $\kappa$ opioid receptors (Khacheturian et al., 1985; Akil et al., 1984) suggests their possible role

in modulating the effects of reinforcing agents. Furthermore, the sensitivity of the reinforcing effects of ethanol, and dopaminergic responsiveness to  $\delta$  antagonism and  $\kappa$  agonism suggest that met-enkephalin and dynorphin A<sub>1.8</sub> may be involved in ethanol reinforcement. Indeed, manipulations of  $\delta$  and  $\kappa$  opioid receptor systems have been shown to influence the activity of neurotransmitter systems in the VTA (Xuei et al., 2006; Lindholme et al., 2001; Holter et al., 2000; McBride et al., 1999; Matsuzawa et al., 1999; Bals-Kubik et al., 1993; Spanagel et al., 1992; Hakan & Henriksen, 1989). Similar to past reports, a rising trend of met-enkephalin levels towards the end of the experimental session was observed. Circadian variations of met-enkephalin levels in regions including CNS areas has been reported elsewhere, although the controls necessary to determine this possibility were not in place in the current study (Kurumaji et al., 1988; Dumont et al., 1991).

This lack of effect of ethanol on the dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  and met-enkephalin opioid peptide systems at the level of VTA could indicate either that these systems are not sensitive to ethanol or that due to methodological limitations the effects of ethanol could not be detected. Among the methodological limitations could be the sensitivity of the microdialysis coupled with RIA technique to detect small changes in the extracellular concentrations of these peptides. The fact that dialysate dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  concentrations in the VTA were relatively low may suggest that any subtle changes in dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$ release could have been too small to be detected by the *in vivo* microdialysis coupled with RIA techniques. Techniques with higher sensitivity may be needed to detect the subtle effects of ethanol on the VTA dynorphin system. As was the case for dynorphin

 $A_{1-8}$ , no alteration was observed in met-enkephaline release following administration of each of the doses of ethanol. In addition, previous studies at the level of nucleus accumbens (Marinelli et al., 2003; 2005; 2006) demonstrated a dose-dependent biphasic effect of ethanol on the release of enkephalin, dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$ , and  $\beta$ -endorphin peptides with low to medium doses, but not high doses increasing the release of enkephalin and  $\beta$ endorphin, while high but not low doses of ethanol increased the release of dynorphin peptides. Therefore, since large dose steps were utilized in the present study it is possible that administration of additional ethanol dose steps, between those used, could have altered the release of met-enkephalin, while doses higher than 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. could have altered the release of dynorphin peptides. Furthermore, since dialysate samples were collected at 30-minute intervals, the temporal resolution was limited, and one can not rule out the possibility of an early transient and short-lasting change in the rate of met-enkephalin and/or dynorphin  $A_{1-8}$  release in response to one or more of the ethanol doses tested.

### 4.3 Biphasic effect of ethanol on the activity of the $\beta$ -endorphin system

The increased release of  $\beta$ -endorphin in response to moderate doses of ethanol at the level of VTA observed in the present investigations is in agreement with previous reports demonstrating increased content of  $\beta$ -endorphin peptides in tissue extracts of the VTA and nucleus accumbens at 30 minutes following intragastric ethanol administration (Rasmussen et al., 1998). Both of these regions receive endorphinergic innervation from POMC-producing cells of the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus (Khacheturian et al., 1985). Short chronic treatments with ethanol have been shown to increase (de Waele &
Gianoulakis, 1994; Angelogianni & Gianoulakis, 1993; Krishnan-Sarin et al., 1998), while prolonged chronic treatments with ethanol have been shown to decrease the hypothalamic content of POMC mRNA (Chen et al., 2004; Rasmussen et al., 2002). Furthermore, studies by Rasmussen et al. (1998) demonstrated that acute intragastric administration of ethanol, sufficient to produce BACs of 120-150 mg/dl, increased the hypothalamic content of POMC mRNA. However, intragastric administration of lower doses of ethanol sufficient to produce BACs in the range of 40-110 mg/dl did not significantly alter the content of hypothalamic POMC mRNA. In the present studies IP administration of 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. produced BACS of about 180 mg/dl at 30 minutes and 140 mg/dl at 180 minutes post-ethanol administration. Therefore the dose of 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. may be associated not only with increased release of  $\beta$ -endorphin in VTA but also increased hypothalamic POMC mRNA content suggesting increased synthesis of POMC peptides in the hypothalamus. In the present investigations the ethanol-induced increase in the extracellular concentration of  $\beta$ -endorphin at the level of VTA was maintained for the entire experimental session. A gradual decrease towards basal values was observed only at 240 minutes post-injection. It is tempting then to speculate that the long-lasting increase in the release of  $\beta$ -endorphin at the level of VTA observed in the present studies is associated with an ethanol-induced increase of synthesis and post-translational processing of hypothalamic POMC (Rasmussen et a., 1998). On the other hand, the IP administration of 0.8 g ethanol/ kg B.Wt. that produces BACs lower than 100 mg/dl is associated with neither increased content of hypothalamic POMC mRNA (Rasmussen et al., 1998) nor increased  $\beta$ -endorphin release at the level of VTA (present investigations).

Among the findings of the present studies was that the 2.4 g ethanol /kg B.Wt. dose of alcohol failed to enhance the release of  $\beta$ -endorphin in the VTA. Considering the significant and long-lasting increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release in response to the 1.6 g ethanol /kg B.Wt. dose, this lack of response to the 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose is difficult to explain. The IP administration of 2.4 g ethanol /kg B.Wt. produces BACs of about 210 mg/dl, 350 mg/dl, 260 mg/dl, and 250 mg/dl at 30, 60, 180, and 240 minutes post-injection, respectively. Although, high concentrations of ethanol may increase the release of neurotransmitter systems that exert an inhibitory effect on  $\beta$ -endorphin release, an initial transient increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release was anticipated during the early period post-ethanol administration, at time points that BAC was 150 mg/dl or lower. However, such a transient increase was not observed in the present investigations. Indeed, with the exception of two rats that presented a small increase of approximately 10-15% in  $\beta$ endorphin release following administration of the 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose, most of the 10 rats included in the data analysis displayed a lack of change of  $\beta$ -endorphin release from the basal values. This lack of response of VTA  $\beta$ -endorphin to high concentrations of ethanol could be due to the fact that the concentration of ethanol in the blood increased rapidly, reaching 210 mg/dl within the first 30 minutes, while there are reports indicating that the ethanol concentration in the brain increases even more rapidly than in the blood (Lumeng et al., 1982; Nurmi et al., 1994)). Thus, if there was an early transient increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release it would last for a very short period and it would be difficult to be detected with the temporal resolution in the present study that utilized 30-minute collections of dialysate samples. Thus, collection of dialysates at more frequent intervals,

such as 10-15 minute intervals, may indeed demonstrate a transient increase of  $\beta$ endorphin release in response to the 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.ethanol dose.

Although the studies by Rasmussen et al. (1998) did not investigate the effect of BACs higher than 150 mg/dl on the content of hypothalamic POMC mRNA, there are previous studies reporting a biphasic effect of ethanol on the *in vitro* release of hypothalamic  $\beta$ -endorphin. Thus, studies using Sprague Dawley, AA and ANA rats, as well as C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice demonstrated that in *in vitro* preparations of intact hypothalamus moderate concentrations of ethanol (20 mM) induced a more pronounced increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release, than higher concentrations (30-40 mM), while when the concentration of ethanol in the incubation medium was increased to 60 mM it did not alter the  $\beta$ -endorphin release from the basal levels (de Waele et al., 1994; 1993). Using *in vivo* microdialaysis, a biphasic, dose-dependent effect of ethanol on the release of  $\beta$ -endorphin and enkephalin peptides was also observed in the rat nucleus accumbens (Marinelli et al., 2003; 2005; 2006), providing further support for the presence of a similar biphasic effect of ethanol on  $\beta$ -endorphin release at the level of VTA.

#### 4.4 Evidence for a biphasic effect of ethanol on nucleus accumbens dopamine release

The current study demonstrated that at the level of VTA, ethanol produced a biphasic response of  $\beta$ -endorphin, with significant elevations of the extracellular levels of  $\beta$ -endorphin following administration of a moderate dose (1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.) and no significant responses at lower (0.8 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.) and higher (2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt.) doses of ethanol, producing an inverted 'U'-shaped dose-response curve. Similar

biphasic responses to ethanol have been observed for other neurotransmitter systems, including the midbrain dopaminergic system. Indeed, dopaminergic activity has been reported to be increased by doses of ethanol comparable to the 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose used in the present studies, while higher or lower doses produced either smaller, or had no, effect on dopaminergic activity. (Mocsary & Bradberry, 1996). Nevertheless, it must be noted that while biphasic effects of ethanol on dopaminergic activity are commonly reported, the particular doses that do, or do not elicit responses are inconsistent and vary among investigations. For instance, several reports indicate that dopaminergic activity becomes augmented following doses both lower and higher than the 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. dose (Blanchard et al., 1993; Marinelli et al., 2003; Di Chiara & Imperato, 1985; Tizabi et al., 2002; Yan, 1999; Gessa et al., 1985). While these differences may in some cases be ascribed to variations of administration routes, and species/strains used, these differences may also indicate that the VTA  $\beta$ -endorphin is but one of many neurotransmitter systems that may mediate ethanol's effects on the mesolimbic dopaminergic system. Furthermore, it should be noted that investigations on the functional significance of the effects of ethanol on the endogenous opioid system were beyond the objectives of the present study. The ethanol induced increase in  $\beta$ endorphin release at the level of VTA, observed in the present study, is in agreement with published reports indicating that the disinhibition of dopaminergic neurons by ethanol is mediated, at least in part, by ethanol induced changes in the activity of the endogenous opioid system (Gerrits et al., 2003; Johnson & North, 1992; Di Chiara & Imperato) However, studies specifically designed to elucidate the functional significance of the ethanol induced increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release at the level of VTA should be performed.

### 4.5 Significance of the ethanol-induced increase in VTA β-endorphin

The current study provides data that enhance the understanding of the effects of ethanol on distinct components of the endogenous opioid systems at the level of the VTA, a brain region associated with the processes of reward and reinforcement. A large body of evidence demonstrates an interaction of ethanol with endogenous opioid systems at the level of VTA, and supports their involvement in the process of ethanol reinforcement (Koob, 2000; Gerrits et al., 2003; Gianoulakis, 2004). While a range of studies have provided support for the capacity of opioid receptors in the VTA to produce alterations in brain responses which have implications for reinforcement (Van Wolfswinkel & Van Ree, 1985; Bechtholt & Cunningham, 2005), the present investigation represents one of only a few studies on the activity of endogenous opioid peptides at the level of the VTA following acute ethanol administration. While the current investigation allowed for a detailed time-course, dose-response study on the activity of opioid peptides at the level of VTA following ethanol administration, the study is still limited in its temporal resolution, and higher temporal resolutions are needed. Nonetheless the current findings appear to provide support for a role of  $\beta$ -endorphin in alcohol reinforcement, at the level of the VTA.

The notion that ethanol-induced A10 dopaminergic neuronal activity may be modulated by opioid receptors in the VTA, is supported by the present observation that enhanced VTA  $\beta$ -endorphin release indeed occurs following administration of alcohol. This finding is in agreement with reports on the stimulatory effect of ethanol on dopaminergic activity (Gessa et al., 1985; Weiss et al., 1993; Marinelli et al., 2003), as

well, on the mechanisms proposed to account for the involvement of opioid systems in the ethanol induced augmentation of the activity of the mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons at the level of VTA. Furthermore, the rapid commencement of the increase in  $\beta$ endorphin release fits well with the ethanol-induced increase in dopaminergic activity and release, while the dose that increased the release of VTA  $\beta$ -endorphin is one which has previously been shown to stimulate dopamine release in nucleus accumbens (Yim et al., 2000; Marinelli et al., 2003). However, there are some apparent discrepancies, between  $\beta$ -endorphin release observed here and dopaminergic responses to alcohol reported previously including differences in the timing and duration of release (Yim et al., 2000; Kohl et al., 1998), indicating that other neurotransmitter systems, in addition to VTA  $\beta$ -endorphin may be contributing to the ethanol-induced increase in dopamine release at the level of nucleus accumbens.

# 4.6 Time course of VTA $\beta$ -endorphin release in response to acute ethanol administration

A notable feature of the increase in the extracellular levels of  $\beta$ -endorphin at the level of the VTA observed following a dose of 1.6 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. ethanol, in addition to the fast commencement, was the tendency for  $\beta$ -endorphin levels to remain elevated above baseline for most of the duration of the experimental session. Indeed,  $\beta$ -endorphin levels began to show signs of returning towards basal values only in the last dialysate sample, collected between 210-240 minutes after ethanol administration. In contrast with this protracted release of  $\beta$ -endorphin, studies on the nucleus accumbens dopamine release induced by acute ethanol administration of doses comparable to those

used in the present studies demonstrated a more rapid cessation of the enhanced dopamine response, typically within approximately 1 to 2 hours post-ethanol (Yim et al., 2000; Kohl et al., 1998). Following acute ethanol administration of doses similar to those used in the current study, BACs can remain elevated for several hours post-ethanol. Indeed, BACs persist long after nucleus accumbens dopamine levels return to normal. Similarly, the current study found that,  $\beta$ -endorphin levels roughly mirrored blood ethanol levels, which also remain elevated long after dopaminergic responses typically cease. Thus, despite the fact that the ethanol-induced increase in nucleus accumbens dopaminergic activity appears to be partly mediated by the ethanol-induced increase of  $\beta$ endorphin release, with time other factors become involved, leading to an attenuation of the enhanced dopaminergic activity. This phenomenon is generally known as an acute tolerance of the dopaminergic system to ethanol. There are a number of reports of acute tolerance to the ethanol effects on various neurotransmitters or behavioural responses (Yim et al., 2000; Le and Kalant, 1992; Waller et al., 1983). While it is well established that enhanced VTA  $\mu$  opioid receptor activity is mediating, at least in part, the nucleus accumbens increase in dopamine activity following acute ethanol administration (Rodd et al., 2004b), the current study suggests that the activation of VTA  $\mu$  opioid receptors by the elevated extracellular levels of  $\beta$ -endorphin persists long after the dopaminergic activity has decreased towards basal values (Yim et al., 2000), suggesting a temporal dissociation between the ethanol induced increase of VTA β-endorphin and mesolimbic dopaminergic activities. This lack of temporal correspondence between  $\beta$ -endorphin elevations found here, and dopaminergic augmentations reported elsewhere (Yim et al., 2000), does not necessarily detract support for a causal link between VTA  $\beta$ -

endorphinergic activity on the one hand, and dopaminergic activity on the other, even if the opioid influence is but a modulatory one. The neurophysiological events responsible for the acute tolerance of the dopamine response to ethanol are not clear. The finding that  $\beta$ -endorphin levels seem to follow blood alcohol levels would rule out an acute attenuation of  $\beta$ -endorphin release at the level of the VTA as the cause of the acute tolerance of dopaminergic activity to ethanol. Indeed, the time profile of ethanol-induced dopaminergic activation is influenced by a number of stimulatory mechanisms, including a modulatory role of VTA  $\beta$ -endorphin, an excitatory glutamatergic input, and an inhibitory input mediated by dopaminergic autoreceptors or GABAergic interneurons (Kohl et al., 1998; Rahman and McBride, 2001). The nature of glutamatergic inputs to the mesolimbic dopaminergic system presents an increased complexity since glutamatergic terminals are reported to be modulated by presynaptic opioid-mediated inhibition, and add another dimension to the modulation of dopaminergic neurons by endogenous opioids (Chergui et al., 1993; Stobbs et al., 2004; Margolis et al., 2005).

## 4.7 Conclusions and future directions

The current study adds support to the involvement of endogenous opioids in the reinforcing effects of ethanol. Nevertheless, it also suggests that further avenues of inquiry are needed to clarify their role. Because the large dose steps used in the current study produced a change in the extracellular levels of  $\beta$ -endorphin that was confined to one dose group, further investigations are needed to assess the effects of ethanol dose steps in between those used here. Additionally, in the present investigations the temporal resolution was limited to 30-minute dialysate collection intervals. Since  $\beta$ -endorphin

elevations had taken place within the first 30-minute time point, microdialysis utilizing more frequent collection intervals (10-15 minutes) could provide more accurate information on the time course of  $\beta$ -endorphin elevations in response to ethanol.

Acute administration of a single dose of ethanol, while arguably pharmacologically active, and instructive regarding the neurophysiology of reinforcement, is nonetheless insufficient to induce a state of addiction. Therefore, in future studies the effect of chronic ethanol administration on the activity of the VTA opioid peptide systems and particularly  $\beta$ -endorphin, could provide important information on their role in ethanol addiction. Such studies should be performed after the development of stable voluntary drinking by the animals. In addition, the use of alcoholpreferring and non-preferring lines of animals, such as the AA and ANA lines of rats, which have been shown to present differences in the activity of distinct components of the endogenous opioid system (Gianoulakis, 2004), may provide important information.

Since  $\beta$ -endorphin binds with high affinity to  $\mu$  receptors, the lack of changes in met-enkephalin levels following alcohol administration suggests that the effects of  $\mu$  receptor activation on mesolimbic activity (Hyytia, 1993) are attributable to  $\beta$ -endorphin actions, the release of which was increased in response to ethanol (present study). The lack of response of dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub> to ethanol administration, may appear contrary to expectations, considering the capacity of  $\kappa$  receptor manipulations to alter dopaminergic activity. It seems probable that the doses of ethanol used in the current study were not sufficiently high to produce the aversive states typically associated with activation of  $\kappa$ 

receptors. Additionally, dynorphin release in the nucleus accumbens was reported only after a high dose of 3.2 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. (Marinelli et al., 2006), so the highest dose of 2.4 g ethanol/kg B.Wt. used here may have been insufficient to induce a response. Thus, future studies examining a greater range of doses may provide a better insight into the contribution of dynorphin systems in mediating ethanol responses. Similarly, examination of dynorphin activity using a chronic ethanol paradigm might prove fruitful, considering the attenuation of mesolimbic dopaminergic activity in response to stimulation of  $\kappa$  opioid receptors, as well as the alterations of ethanol reward thresholds associated with  $\kappa$  opioid receptor stimulation (Koob, 1998).

In conclusion, the current investigations demonstrated that at the level of VTA systemic administration of ethanol induced a prolonged, dose-dependent increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release, but did not significantly alter the release of either met-enkephalin or dynorphin A<sub>1-8</sub> peptides. This ethanol induced increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin release in the VTA may play a significant role in the ethanol induced stimulation of the mesolimbic dopaminergic system and the initiation of the processes of ethanol reward and reinforcement.

## References

Akil H, Watson SJ, Young E, Lewis ME, Khachaturian H, Walker JM (1984) Endogenous opioids: biology and function. Annul Reviews Neuroscience. 7: 223-55. Review.

Alvarez VA, Arttamangkul S, Dang V, Salem A, Whistler JL, von Zastrow M, Grandy DK, Williams JT. (2002) μ-Opioid Receptors: Ligand-Dependent Activation of Potassium Conductance, Desensitization, and Internalization. The Journal of Neuroscience. 22 (13): 5769-5776

Altshuler HL, Phillips PE, Feinhandler DA (1980) Iteration of ethanol selfadministration by naltrexone. Life Sciences. 26: 679-688.

Amalric M, Cline EJ, Martinez JL, Bloom FE, Koob GF (1987) Rewarding properties of  $\beta$ -endorphin as measured by conditioned place preference. Psychopharmacology. 91: 14-19.

Angelogianni P, Gianoulakis C. (1993) Chronic ethanol increases proopiomelanocortin gene expression in the hypothalamus. Neuroendocrinology. 57: 106-114.

Antoniou K, Papadopoulou-Daifotis Z, Kafetzopoulos E. (1998) Differential alterations in basal and D-amphetamine-induced behavioural pattern following 6-OHDA or ibotenic acid lesions into the dorsal striatum. Behavioural Brain Research. 97 (1-2): 13-28.

Bals-Kubik R, Ableitner A, Herz A, Shippenberg TS. Neuroanatomical sites mediating the motivational effects of opioids as mapped by the conditioned place preference paradigm in rats. Journal of Pharmacology and experimental therapeutics. 264(1): 489-95.

Bals-Kubik R, Shippenberg TS, Herz A (1990) Involvement of central mu and delta opioid receptors in mediating the reinforcing effects of beta-endorphin in the rat European Journal of Pharmacology. 175: 63-69.

Bals-Kubik R, Herz A, Shippenberg TS (1989) Evidence that the aversive effects of opioid antagonists and kappa-agonists are centrally mediated. Psychopharmacology. 98: 203-206.

Bechtholt AJ, Cunningham CL. (2005) Ethanol-induced conditioned place preference is expressed through a ventral tegmental area dependent mechanism. Behavioral Neuroscience. 119(1): 213-23

Benjamin D, Grant E, Pohorecky A. (1993) Naltrexone reverses ethanol-induced dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens in awake freely moving rats. Brain Research. 621: 137–140.

Björklund, A., Lindvall, O. (1984) Dopamine-Containing Systems in the CNS. Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy. Vol. 2: Classical Neurotransmitters of the CNS, Part 1. 55-121.

Blanchard BA, Steindorf S, Wang S, Glick SD (1993) Sex differences in ethanolinduced dopamine release in nucleus accumbens and in ethanol consumption in rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 17(5): 968–973.

Blomqvist O, Ericson M, Engel JA, Soderpalm B. (1997) Accumbal dopamine overflow after ethanol: localization of the antagonizing effect of mecamylamine. European Journal of Pharmacology.334(2-3): 149-56. Booyse FM, Parks DA (2001) Moderate wine and alcohol consumption:

Beneficial effects on cardiovascular disease. Thrombosis and Haemostasis 86: 517-528.

Bradbury AF, Smyth DF, Snell CR, Birdsall NJM and Hulme EC (1976) Cfragment of lipotropin has a high affinity for brain opiate receptors. Nature (London) 260: 793-795.

Brick J, Pohorccky LA (1982) Ethanol-stress interaction: Biochemical findings. Psychopharmacology. 77(1): 773-84.

Brodie MS, Shefner SA, Dunwiddie TV. (1990) Ethanol increases the firing rate of dopamine neurons of the rat ventral tegmental area in vitro. Brain Research. 508(1): 65-9.

Brodie MS, Trifunovic RD, and Shefner SA (1995) Serotonin potentiates ethanolinduced excitation of ventral tegmental area neurons in brain slices from three different rat strains. Journal Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 273: 1139-1146.

Brodie MS, Shefner SA, Dunwiddie TV. (1990) Ethanol increases the firing rate of dopamine neurons of the rat. Brain Research. 508: 65-69

Brodie MS (2002) Increased ethanol excitation of dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area after chronic ethanol treatment. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 26: 1024-1030.

Brodie MS and Appel SB (2000) Dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area of C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice differ in sensitivity to ethanol excitation. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 24: 1120-1124 Brodie MS, Pesold C, and Appel SB (1999) Ethanol directly excites dopaminergic ventral tegmental area reward neurons. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 23: 1848-1852.

Boyadjieva NI, Sarkar DK. (1994) Effects of chronic alcohol on immunoreactive beta-endorphin secretion from hypothalamic neurons in primary cultures: evidence for alcohol tolerance, withdrawal, and sensitization responses. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 18: 1497–1501.

Cadoret RJ, Cain CA, Grove WM (1980) Development of alcoholism in adoptees raised apart from alcoholic biologic relatives. Archives of General Psychiatry. 37(5): 561-3.

Charness ME. (1989) Ethanol and opioid receptor signaling. Experientia. 45: 418-428.

Chen CP, Kuhn P, Advis JP, Sarkar DK. Chronic ethanol consumption impairs the circadian rhythm of pro-opiomelanocortin and period genes mRNA expression in the hypothalamus of the male rat. Journal of Neurochemistry. 88(6): 1547-54.

Chergui K, Charlety PJ, Akaoka H, Saunier CF, Brunet JL, Buda M, Svensson TH, Chouvet G. (1993) Tonic activation of NMDA receptors causes spontaneous burst discharge of rat midbrain dopamine neurons in vivo. European Journal of Neuroscience. 5(2): 137-44.

Cloninger CR, Bohman M, Sigvardsson S. (1981) Inheritance of alcohol abuse: cross-fostering analyses of adopted men. Archives of General Psychiatry 38: 861–8. Congar P, Bergevin A, and Trudeau LE (2002) D2 receptors inhibit the secretory process downstream from calcium influx in dopaminergic neurons: implication of K+ channels. Journal of Neurophysiology 87: 1046-1056.

Cunningham CL, Henderson CM, Bormann NM (1998). Extinction of ethanolinduced conditioned place preference and conditioned place aversion: Effects of naloxone. Psychopharmacology (Berlin). 139: 62-70.

Cowen MS, Lawrence AJ (1999) The role of opioid-dopamine interactions in the induction and maintenance of ethanol consumption. Progress in Neuropsychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry. 23: 1171–1212.

Deakin JF, Doströvsky JO, and Smyth DG (1980)Influence of N-terminal acetylation and C-terminal proteolysis on the analgesic activity of betaendorphin.Biochem J. 189(3): 501–506.

Delamater AR, Sclafani, A, Bodnar RJ (2000). Pharmacology of sucrosereinforced place-preference conditioning: Effects of naltrexone. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 65: 697-704.

de Waele J-P, Gianoulakis C (1993) Effects of single and repeated exposure to ethanol on hypothalamic  $\beta$ -endorphin and CRH release by the C57BL/6 and DBA/2 strains of mice. Neuroendocrinology 57: 700–709.

de Waele J-P, Gianoulakis C (1994) Enhanced activity of the brain β-endorphin system by free-choice ethanol drinking in C57BW6 but not DBN2 mice. European Journal of Pharmacology 258: 119-129.

de Waele J-P, D. Papachristou D, Gianoulakis C (1992) The alcohol-preferring C57BL/6 mice present an enhanced sensitivity of the hypothalamic β-endorphin system

to ethanol than the alcohol-avoiding DBA/2 mice. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 261: 788–794.

Di Chiara and Imperato. (1986) Preferential stimulation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens by opiates, alcohol, and barbiturates; studies with transcerebral dialysis in freely moving rats. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 473: 367-381.

Di Chiara G, Imperato A (1985) Ethanol preferentially stimulates dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of freely-moving rats. European Journal of Pharmacology. 115: 131–132.

Di, Chiara GE, Acquas E, Tanda G. (1996) Ethanol as a neurochemical surrogate of conventional reinforcers: the dopamine-opioid link. Alcohol 13(1): 13-17.

Dudley R. (2000) Evolutionary origins of human alcoholism in primate frugivory. Quarterly Review of Biology. 97: 3–15.

Dudley R. (2002) Fermenting fruit and the historical ecology of ethanol ingestion: is alcoholism in modern humans an evolutionary hangover? Addiction. 97(4): 381.

Dumont M, Ouellette M, Brakier-Gingras L, Lemaire S. (1991) Circadian regulation of the biosynthesis of cardiac Met-enkephalin and precursors in normotensive and spontaneously hypertensive rats. Life Sciences. 48(20): 1895-902.

El-Ghundi M, George SR, Drago J, Fan T, Nguyen T, Liu C. (1998) Disruption of dopamine D<sub>1</sub> receptor gene expression attenuates alcohol seeking behavior. European Journal of Pharmacology. (353): 149–158.

Fadda P, Tronci S, Colombo G, Fratta W. (1999) Differences in the opioid system in selected brain regions of alcohol-preferring and alcohol-nonpreferring rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 23(8): 1296-305.

Finn PR, Justus A (1999) Reduced EEG Alpha Power in the Male and Female Offspring of Alcoholics. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 23: 256

Froehlich JC, Harts J, Lumeng L, Li T-K (1990) Naloxone attenuates voluntary ethanol intake in rats selectively bred for high ethanol preference. Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior. 35(2): 385–390.

Frochlich JC, Li T-K (1994) Opioid involvement in alcohol drinking. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 739: 156-167.

Froehlich JC, Zink RW, Li TK, Christian JC. (2000) Analysis of heritability of hormonal responses to alcohol in twins: beta-endorphin as a potential biomarker of genetic risk for alcoholism. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 24(3): 265-77.

Gatto, G. J., McBride, W. J., Murphy, J. M., Lumeng, L., & Li, T. K. (1994). Ethanol self-infusion into the ventral tegmental area by alcohol-preferring rats. Alcohol. 11: 557-564

Gerrits MA, Lesscher HB, van Ree JM. (2003) Drug dependence and the endogenous opioid system. European Neuropsychopharmacology. 13(6): 424-34.

Gerrits MA, Patkina N, Zvartau EE, van Ree JM (1995). Opioid blockade attenuates acquisition and expression of cocaine-induced place preference conditioning in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berlin). 119: 92-98. Gerrits MA, Van Ree JM. (1996) Effect of nucleus accumbens dopamine depletion on motivational aspects involved in initiation of cocaine and heroin selfadministration in rats. Brain Research. 713(1-2): 114-24.

Gessa GL, Muntoni F, Collu M, Vargiu L, Mereu G (1985) Low doses of ethanol activate dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area. Brain Research. 348(1): 201-203.

Gianoulakis C (1990) Characterization of the effects of acute ethanol administration on the release of endorphin peptides by the rat hypothalamus. European Journal of Pharmacology. 180: 21-29.

Gianoulakis C (2004) Endogenous opioids and addiction to alcohol and other drugs of abuse. Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry. 4: 39-50.

Gianoulakis C, Barcomb A. (1987) Effect of acute ethanol in vivo and in vitro on the  $\beta$ -endorphin system in the rat. Life Sciences. 40(1): 19-28.

Gianoulakis C, de Waele JP. (1994) Genetics of alcoholism: role of the endogenous opioid system. Metabolic Brain Disease. 9(2): 105-31.

Gianoulakis C, de Waele J-P, Kiianmaa K (1992) Differences in the brain and pituitary  $\beta$ -endorphin system between the alcohol-preferring AA and alcohol-avoiding ANA rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 16: 453–459.

Gianoulakis C, Gupta A. (1986) Inbred strains of mice with variable sensitivity to ethanol exhibit differences in the content and processing of beta-endorphin. Life Sciences. 39(24): 2315-25.

George SR, Roldan L, Lui A, Naranjo CA. (1991) Endogenous opioids are involved in the genetically determined high preference for ethanol consumption. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 15(4): 668-72.

Goldstein A, Tachibana S, Lowney LI, Hunkapiller M, Hood L. (1979) Dynorphin-(1-13), an extraordinarily potent opioid peptide. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA. 76(12): 6666-70.

Gillan MG, Kosterlitz HW. (1982) Spectrum of the mu, delta- and kappa-binding sites in homogenates of rat brain. British Journal of Pharmacology. 77(3): 461-9.

Gonzales RA, Weiss F. (1998) Suppression of ethanol-reinforced behavior by naltrexone is associated with attenuation of the ethanol-induced increase in dialysate dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens. Journal of Neuroscience. 18(24): 10663-71.

Goodwin DW. (1984) Studies of familial alcoholism: a review. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 45(12 Pt 2): 14-7.

Grant BF (2001) Alcohol consumption, alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence. The United States as an example. Addiction. 89: 1357–1365.

Gysling K, Wang RY. (1983) Morphine-induced activation of A10 dopamine neurons in the rat. Brain Research. 277(1): 119-27.

Harford TC, Grant BF, Yi HY, Chen CM. (2005) Patterns of DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence criteria among adolescents and adults: results from the 2001 National Household Survey on Drug Abuse. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. (5): 810-28.

Herz A. (1997) Endogenous opioid systems and alcohol addiction. Psychopharmacology (Berlin). 129(2): 99-111. Hesselbrock VM, Hesselbrock MN (2006) Are there empirically supported and clinically useful subtypes of alcohol dependence? Addiction 101 (s1): 97-103.

Heyser CJ, Roberts AJ, Schulteis G, Koob GF. (1999) Central administration of an opiate antagonist decreases oral ethanol self-administration in rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 23(9): 1468-76.

Hill, SY, Shen S, Locke J. (1999). Developmental delay in P300 production in children at high risk for developing alcohol-related disorders. Biological Psychiatry 46: 970-981.

Hill S (2004) Trajectories of Alcohol Use and Electrophysiological and Morphological Indices of Brain Development: Distinguishing Causes from Consequences. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1021: 245–259.

Hodge CW, Haraguchi M, Erickson H, and Samson HH (1993) Ventral tegmental microinjections of quinpirole decrease ethanol and sucrose-reinforced responding. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 17: 370-375.

Holter SM, Henniger MS, Lipkowski AW, Spanagel R. (2000) Kappa-opioid receptors and relapse-like drinking in long-term ethanol-experienced rats. Psychopharmacology (Berlin). 153(1): 93-102.

Hubbell CL, Marglin SH, Spitalnic SJ, Abelson ML, Wild KD, Reid LD (1991) Opioidergic, serotonergic, and dopaminergic manipulation and rats' intake of a sweetened alcoholic beverage. Alcohol. 8: 355–367.

Hughes J, Smith TW, Kosterlitz HW, Fothergill LA, Morgan BA and Morris HR (1975) Identification of two related pentapeptides from the brain with potent opiate agonist activity. Nature (London). 258: 577-580.

Hyytia P. (1993) Involvement of mu-opioid receptors in alcohol drinking by alcohol-preferring AA rats. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 45: 697-701.

Hyytia P, Kiianmaa K. (2001) Suppression of ethanol responding by centrally administered CTOP and naltrindole in AA and Wistar rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 25(1): 25-33.

Hyytia P, Sinclair JD. (1993) Responding for oral ethanol after naloxone treatment by alcohol-preferring AA rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 17(3): 631-6.

Ikemoto S, McBride WJ, Murphy JM, Lumeng L, Li TK. (1997) 6-OHDA-lesions of the nucleus accumbens disrupt the acquisition but not the maintenance of ethanol consumption in the alcohol-preferring P line of rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 21(6): 1042-6.

Jamensky NT, Gianoulakis C (1999) Comparison of the proopiomelanocortin and proenkephalin opioid peptide systems in brain regions of the alcohol-preferring 57BL/6 and alcohol-avoiding DBA/2 mice. Alcohol. 18: 177–187.

Jamensky NT, Gianoulakis C. (1997) Content of dynorphins and kappa-opioid receptors in distinct brain regions of C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 21(8): 1455-64.

James IF, Goldstein A. (1984) Site-directed alkylation of multiple opioid receptors. I. Binding selectivity. Molecular Pharmacology. 25(3): 337-42.

Johnson, S. W. and R. A. North. (1992) Opioids excite dopamine neurons by hyperpolarization of local interneurons. Journal of Neuroscience. 12 (2): 483-88

Kakidani Y, Furutami Y, Takahashi H, Noda M, Mozimoto Y, Hiroshi T. (1982) Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA for porcine β-neoendorphin/dynorphin precursors. Nature. 298(5871): 245–249.

Keith LD, Crabbe JC, Robertson LM, Kendall JW. (1986) Ethanol-stimulated endorphin and corticotropin secretion in vitro. Brain Reseach. 367: 222-229.

Kendrick KM. (1990). Microdialysis measurement of in vivo neuropeptide release. Journal of Neuroscience Methods. 34(1-3): 35-46.

Kerdelhue B, Karteszi M, Pasqualini C, Reinberg A, Mezey E, Palkovits M. (1983) Circadian variations in beta-endorphin concentrations in pituitary and in some brain nuclei of the adult male rat. Brain Research. 261(2): 243-8

Khachaturian H, Lewis ME, Schafer MK-H, Watson SJ (1985) Anatomy of the CNS opioid systems. Trends in Neurosciences. 8: 111-119.

Kohl RR, Katner JS, Chernet E, McBride WJ. (1998) Ethanol and negative feedback regulation of mesolimbic dopamine release in rats. Psychopharmacology. 139: 79-85.

Koistinen M, Tuomainen P, Hyytia P, Kiianmaa K. (2001) Naltrexone suppresses ethanol intake in 6-hydroxydopamine-treated rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 25(11): 1605-12

Koob GF (1992) Drugs of abuse: anatomy, pharmacology and function of reward pathways. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences. 13: 177-184.

Koob G. (2000) Animal models of craving for ethanol. Addiction. 95(Supplement 2): S73-S81.

Koob GF, Roberts AJ, Schulteis G, Parsons LH, Heyser CJ, Hyytia P, Merlo-Pich

E, Weiss F. (1998) Neurocircuitry targets in ethanol reward and dependence. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 22(1): 3-9.

Kornet M, Goosen C, Van Ree JM. (1991) The effect of naltrexone on alcohol consumption during chronic alcohol drinking and after a period of imposed abstinence in free-choice drinking rhesus monkeys. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 104: 367-376.

Kosobud A, Bodor AS, Crabbe JC. (1988) Voluntary consumption of ethanol in WSP, WSC and WSR selectively bred mouse lines. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 29(3): 601-7.

Krishnan-Sarin S, Wand GS, Li XW, Portoghese PS, Froehlich JC (1998) Effect of mu opioid receptor blockade on alcohol intake in rats bred for high alcohol drinking. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 59: 627–635.

Kurumaji A, Takashima M, Ohi K, Takahashi K. (1988) Circadian fluctuations in pain responsiveness and brain Met-enkephalin-like immunoreactivity in the rat. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 29(3): 595-99.

Le AD, Kalant H, (1992) Influence of intoxicated practice on the development of acute tolerance to the motor impairment effect of ethanol. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 106: 572-576

Le AD, Kiianmaa K, Cunningham CL, Engel JA, Ericson M, Soderpalm B, Koob GF, Roberts AJ, Weiss F, Hyytia P, Janhunen S, Mikkola J, Backstrom P, Ponomarev I, Crabbe JC. (2001) Neurobiological processes in alcohol addiction. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 25(5 Suppl ISBRA): 144S-151S. Li CH, Chung D. (1976) Isolation and structure of an untriakontapeptide with opiate activity from camel pituitary glands. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA. 73: 1145-1148

Li X-W, Li T-K, Froehlich JC. (1998), Enhanced sensitivity of the nucleus accumbens proenkephalin system to alcohol in rats selectively bred for alcohol preference. Brain Research. (794): 35–47.

Lindholm S, Werme M, Brene S, Franck J. (2001) The selective kappa-opioid receptor agonist U50,488H attenuates voluntary ethanol intake in the rat. Behavioural Brain Research. 120(2): 137-46.

Linseman MA, Le AD (1997) Effects of opioids on the absorption of alcohol. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 58(1): 79–84.

Lipscomb, TR, Carpenter JA, Nathan PE. (1979). Static ataxia: a predictor of alcoholism? British Journal of Addiction to Alcohol and Other Drugs. 74: 289-294

Lumeng L, Li TK (1986) The development of metabolic tolerance in the alcoholpreferring P rats: comparison of forced and free-choice drinking of ethanol. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 25(5): 1013-20.

Lumeng L, Waller MB, McBride WJ, Li TK. (1982) Different sensitivities to ethanol in alcohol-preferring and -nonpreferring rats. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 16: 125–130.

Maidment NT, Evans, CJ. (1991) Measurement of extacellular neuropeptides in the brain: microdialysis linked to solid-phase radioimmunoassay with sub-femtomole limits of detection. In: Robinson TE, Justice JB Jr (eds) Microdialysis in the neurosciences. Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam Mansour A, Fox CA, Akil H, Watson SJ. (1995) Opioid-receptor mRNA expression in the rat CNS: anatomical and functional implications. Trends in Neurosciences. 18(1): 22-9.

Mansour A, Khachaturian H, Lewis ME, Akil H, Watson SJ. (1988) Anatomy of CNS opioid receptors. Trends in Neurosciences. 11(7): 308-14

Marinelli PW, Lam M, Bai L, Quirion R, Gianoulakis C. (2006) A microdialysis profile of dynorphin A(1-8) release in the rat nucleus accumbens following alcohol administration. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 30(6): 982-90.

Marinelli PW, Bai L, Quirion R, Gianoulakis C. (2005) A microdialysis profile of Met-enkephalin release in the rat nucleus accumbens following alcohol administration. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research .29(10): 1821-28.

Marinelli PW, Quirion R, Gianoulakis C. (2004) An in vivo profile of betaendorphin release in the arcuate nucleus and nucleus accumbens following exposure to stress or alcohol. Neuroscience. 127(3): 777-84.

Marinelli, P. W., R. Quirion, and C. Gianoulakis. (2003) A microdialysis profile of beta-endorphin and catecholamines in the rat nucleus accumbens following alcohol administration. Psychopharmacology (Berlin). 169(1): 60-67.

Marinelli PW, Kiiamaa K, Gianoulakis C (2000) Opioid propeptide mRNA content and receptor density in the brains of AA and ANA rats. Life Sciences. 66: 1915– 1927.

Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA, Huppler RE, Gilbert PE. (1976) The effects of morphine- and nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-

dependent chronic spinal dog. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 197(3): 517-32.

Margolis EB, Hjelmstad GO, Bonci A, Fields HL. (2005) Both kappa and mu opioid agonists inhibit glutamatergic input to ventral tegmental area neurons. Journal of Neurophysiology. 93(6): 3086-93

Matsuzawa S, Suzuki T, Misawa M, Nagase H. (1999) Different roles of mu-, delta- and kappa-opioid receptors in ethanol-associated place preference in rats exposed to conditioned fear stress. European Journal of Pharmacology. 368(1): 9-16. McBride WJ, Murphy JM, Ikemoto S. (1999) Localization of brain reinforcement mechanisms: intracranial self-administration and intracranial place-conditioning studies. Behavioural Brain Research. 101(2): 129-52.

Messas GP, Vallada Filho HP. (2004) The role of genetics in alcohol dependence. Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria. 26 (Suppl 1): S54-8.

Melendez RI, Rodd-Henricks ZA, Engleman EA, Li T-K, McBride WJ, and Murphy JM (2002) Microdialysis of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens of alcoholpreferring (P) rats during anticipation and operant self-administration of ethanol. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 26: 318-325.

Mendez M, Leriche M, Calva JC. (2001) Acute ethanol administration differentially modulates mu opioid receptors in the rat mesoaccumbens and mesocortical pathways. Brain Research. Molecular Brain Research. 94(1-2): 148-56.

Mendez M, Morales-Mulia M. (2006) Ethanol exposure differentially alters proenkephalin mRNA expression in regions of the mesocorticolimbic system. Psychopharmacology (Berlin). 189(1): 117-24. Merikangas K, Stolar M, Stevens D, O'Malley S, Rousanville B (1998) Familial transmission of substance use disorders. Archives of General Psychiatry. 55: 973-9.

Middaugh LD, Kelley BM, Cuison ER Jr, Groseclose CH. (1999) Naltrexone effects on ethanol reward and discrimination in C57BL/6 mice. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 23(3): 456-64

Mocsary Z, Bradberry CW (1996) Effect of ethanol on extracellular dopamine in nucleus accumbens: comparison between Lewis and Fischer 344 rat strains. Brain Research. 706: 194–198.

Morales M, Galicia O, Salceda R, Mendez M (2002) Ethanol induced changes on proenkephalin expression in the dopaminergic system. Society for Neuroscience Abstracts. 32: 810.8.

Morgan CJ, Badawy AA, Thomas DR, Dando TG, Kirby A (1989) The [lactate]/[pyruvate] ratio and alcohol metabolism: experiments with naloxone in fasting normal male volunteers. Alcohol and Alcoholism. 24: 185–188.

Mucha RF, Herz A (1985) motivational properties of kappa and mu opioid receptor agonists studied with place and taste preference conditioning.

Psychopharmacology 86: 274-280.

Mucha RF, Iversen SD (1984) Reinforcing properties of morphine and naloxone revealed by conditioned place preferences: a procedural examination.

Psychopharmacology. 82: 241–247.

Narita M, Takahashi Y, Takamori K, Funada M, Suzuki T, Misawa M, Nagase H (1993) Effects of K-Agonist on the Antinociception and Locomotor Enhancing Action Induced by Morphine in Mice. Japan Journal of Pharmacology 62: 15-24 Nakanishi S, Inoue A, Kita T, Nakamura M, Chang AC, Cohen SN (1979) Nucleotide sequence of cloned cDNA for bovine corticotropin-b-lipotropin precursor. Nature. (5703): 423–427.

Noda M, Teranishi Y, Takahashi H, Toyosato M, Notake M, Nakanishi S (1982) Isolation and structural organization of the human preproenkephalin gene. Nature 297: 431–434.

Nowak KL, McBride WJ, Lumeng L, Li T-K, and Murphy JM (2000) Involvement of dopamine D2 autoreceptors in the ventral tegmental area on alcohol and saccharin intake of the alcohol-preferring P rat. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 24: 476-483.

Nurmi M, Kiianmaa K, Sinclair JD (1994) Brain ethanol in AA, ANA, and Wistar rats monitored with one-minute microdialysis. Alcohol 11: 315–321

Olive MF, Koenig HN. (2001) Stimulation of endorphin neurotransmission in the nucleus accumbens by ethanol, cocaine and amphetamine. Journal of Neuroscience. 21: RC184:1-5

O'Donohue, Dorsa. (1982). The opiomelanotropinergic neuronal and endocrine systems. Peptides 3: 355-395

Olson GA, Olson RD, Kastin AJ. (1996) Endogenous opiates: 1995. Peptides. 17(8): 1421-66. Review.

O'Malley SS, Jaffe AJ, Chang G, Schottenfeld RS, Meyer RE, Rounsaville B (1992). Naltrexone and coping skills therapy for alcohol dependence: A controlled study. Archives of General Psychiatry. 49: 881-887 Osald LM, Wand GS (2004) Opioids and alcoholism. Physiology & Behavior. 81: 339-358.

Pacheco DF, Duarte ID. (2005) Delta-opioid receptor agonist SNC80 induces peripheral antinociception via activation of ATP-sensitive K+ channels. European Journal of Pharmacology. 512(1): 23-8.

Pastor, R., C. Sanchis-Segura, and C. M. Aragon. (2005) Effect of selective antagonism of mu(1)-, mu(1/2)-, mu(3)-, and delta-opioid receptors on the locomotor-stimulating actions of ethanol. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 78(3): 289-95.

Pastorcic M, Boyadjieva N, Sarkar DK (1994) Comparison of the effects of alcohol and acetaldehyde on proopiomelanocortin mRNA levels and beta-endorphin secretion from hypothalamic neurons in primary cultures. Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences. 5(6): 580-586.

Patrick, C H. (1952) Alcohol, Culture, and Society. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1952.

Penn PE, McBride WJ, Lumeng L, Gaff TM, Li TK. (1978) Neurochemical and operant behavioral studies of a strain of alcohol-preferring rats. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 8(4): 475-81.

Pert CB, Snyder SH. (1973) Opiate receptor: demonstration in nervous tissue. Science. 179(77): 1011-4.

Porjesz B, Rangaswamy M, Kamarajan C, Jones KA, Padmanabhapillai A, Begleiter H (2005) The utility of neurophysiological markers in the study of alcoholism. Neurophysiology 116 (5): 993-1018. Paxinos C, Watson G (1986) The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. New York: Academic Press.

Pohorecky, LA. (1977) Biphasic action of ethanol. Biobehavioral Reviews. 1: 231-240.

Pohorecky LA (1991) Stress and alcohol interaction: An update of human research. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 15: 438-458.

Prescott CA, Aggen SH, Kendler KS (1999) Sex Differences in the Sources of Genetic Liability to Alcohol Abuse and Dependence in a Population-Based Sample of U.S. Twins. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 23(7): 1136-1144

Rahman, S. and W. J. McBride. "D1-D2 dopamine receptor interaction within the nucleus accumbens mediates long-loop negative feedback to the ventral tegmental area (VTA). Journal of Neurochemistry. 77(5): 1248-55.

Rajendram R, Lewison G, Preedy VR. (2006) Worldwide alcohol-related research and the disease burden. Alcohol and Alcoholism. 41(1): 99-106.

Rasmussen DD, Bryant CA, Boldt BM, Colasurdo EA, Levin N, Wilkinson CW. (1998) Acute alcohol effects on opiomelanocortinergic regulation. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 22(4): 789-801.

Rasmussen DD, Boldt BM, Wilkinson CW, Mitton DR.(2002) Chronic daily ethanol and withdrawal: Forebrain pro-opiomelanocortin gene expression and implications for dependence, relapse, and deprivation effect. Alcoholism Clinical and Experimental Research. 26 (4): 535–546. Rassnick S, Stinus L, Koob GF. (1993) The effects of 6-hydroxydopamine lesions of the nucleus accumbens and the mesolimbic dopamine system on oral selfadministration of ethanol in the rat. Brain Research. 623(1): 16-24.

Ratsma JE, Van Der Stelt O, Gunning WB. (2002) Neurochemical markers of alcoholism vulnerability in humans. Alcohol and Alcoholism. 37(6): 522-33.

Reid LD, Delconte JD, Nichols ML, Bilsky EJ, Hubbell CL (1991) Tests of opioid deficiency hypotheses of alcoholism. Alcohol. 8: 247–257.

Ritz MC, Garcia JM, Protz D, Rael AM, George FR. (1994) Ethanol-reinforced behavior in P, NP, HAD and LAD rats: differential genetic regulation of reinforcement and motivation. Behavioral Pharmacology. 5(4): 521-531.

Roberts DCS, Koob GF (1982) Disruption of cocaine self-administration following 6-hydoxydopamine lesions of the ventral tegmental area in rats. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and behaviour. 17: 901-904.

Rodd ZA, Melendez RI, Bell RL, Kuc KA, Zhang Y, Murphy JM, and McBride WJ (2004b) Intracranial self-administration of ethanol within the ventral tegmental area of male Wistar rats: evidence for regional heterogeneity and involvement of dopamine neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 1050-1057.

Rodd ZA, Bell RL, McQueen VK, Davids MR, Hsu CC, Murphy JM, Li T-K, Lumeng L, and McBride WJ (2005a) Chronic ethanol drinking by alcohol-preferring (P) rats increases the sensitivity of the posterior ventral tegmental area to the reinforcing effects of ethanol. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 29: 358-366. Rodd-Henricks ZA, McKinzie DL, Crile RS, Murphy JM, and McBride WJ (2000a) Regional heterogeneity for the intracranial self-administration of ethanol within the ventral tegmental area of female Wistar rats. Psychopharmacology 149: 217-224.

Rodriguez dc Fonseca F, Carrera MRA, Koob GF, Weiss F (1997) Activation of corticotropin-releasing factor in the limbic system during cannabinoid withdrawal. Science. 276: 2050-2054.

Samson HH, Hodge CW. (1993) The role of the mesoaccumbens dopamine system in ethanol reinforcement: studies using the techniques of microinjection and voltammetry. Alcohol and Alcoholism. 2: 469–474.

Samson HH, Hodge CW, Erickson HL, Niehus JS, Gerhardt GA, Kalivas PW, Flowde EA. (1997) The effects of local application of ethanol in the nucleus accumbens on dopamine overflow and clearance. Alcohol. 14: 485-492

Scanlon MN, , Lazar-Wesley E, Grant KA, Kunos G. (1992) Proopiomelanocortin messenger RNA is decreased in the mediobasal hypothalamus of rats made dependent on ethanol. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 16(6): 1147–1151

Schulz R, Wuster M, Duka T, Herz A (1980) Acute and chronic ethanol treatment changes endorphin levels in brain and pituitary. Psychopharmacology 68: 221–227.

Seizinger BR, Bovermann K, Maysinger D, Hollt V, Herz A (1983) Differential effects of acute and chronic ethanol treatment on particular opioid peptide systems in discrete regions of rat brain and pituitary. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior 18: 361–369.

Sessler FM, Hsu FC, Felder TN, Zhai J, Lin RC, Wieland SJ, Kosobud AE.

(1998) Effects of ethanol on rat somatosensory cortical neurons. Brain Research. 804(2): 266-74.

Simon EJ, Hiller JM, Edelman I. Stereospecific binding of the potent narcotic analgesic (3H) Etorphine to rat-brain homogenate. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 70(7): 1947-9.

Simonds WF. (1988) The molecular basis of opioid receptor function. Endocrine Reviews. 9(2): 200-12.

Sinclair JD. Alcohol-deprivation effect in rats genetically selected for their ethanol preference. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 10(4): 597-602.

Sinclair JD, Le AD, Kiianmaa K. (1989) The AA and ANA rat lines, selected for differences in voluntary alcohol consumption. Experientia. 45(9): 798-805.

Spanagel R, Herz A, Shippenberg TS. (1992) Opposing tonically active endogenous opioid systems modulate the mesolimbic dopaminergic pathway. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA. 89(6): 2046-50.

Steiner RA, Kabigting E, Lent K, Clifton DK (1994) Diurnal rhythm in proopiomelanocortin mRNA in the arcuate nucleus of the male rat. Journal of Neuroendocrinology. 6: 603-608.

Stobbs SH, Ohran AJ, Lassen MB, Allison DW, Brown JE, Steffensen SC. Ethanol suppression of ventral tegmental area GABA neuron electrical transmission involves N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 311(1): 282-9. Stromberg, M. F (1998) A comparison of the effects of the opioid antagonists naltrexone, naltrindole, and beta-funaltrexamine on ethanol consumption in the rat. Alcohol. 15(4): 281-89.

Su X, Wachtel RE, Gebhart GF. (1998) Inhibition of calcium currents in rat colon sensory neurons by K- but not mu- or delta-opioids. Journal Neurophysiology. 80(6): 3112-9.

Samson HH, Doyle TF (1985) Oral ethanol-self-administration in the rat: effect of naloxone. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 22: 92–99.

Schuckit MA. (1988) Reactions to alcohol in sons of alcoholics and controls. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 12: 465-71.

Sharpe AL, Samson HH (2001) Effect of naloxone on appetitive and consummatory phases of ethanol self-administration. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 25: 1006–1011.

Single E, Robson L, Xie X, Rehm J, Moore R, Choi B, Desjardins S, Anderson J (1996) The costs of substance abuse in Canada: highlights of a major study of the health, social and economic costs associated with the use of alcohol, tobacco and illicit drugs. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Center on Substance Abuse.

Terenius L. (1973) Stereospecific interaction between narcotic analgesics and a synaptic plasm a membrane fraction of rat cerebral cortex. Acta Pharmacologica et Toxicologica 32(3): 317-20.

Tizabi Y, Copeland RL, Jr., Louis VA, Taylor RE (2002) Effects of combined systemic alcohol and central nicotine administration into ventral tegmental area on dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 26: 394–399.

van Ree JM, Smyth DG, Colpaer FC (1979) Dependence creating properties of lipotropin C-fragment (β-endorphin): evidence for its internal control of behavior. Life Sciences. 24: 495-502

Van Wolfswinkel L, Van Ree JM (1985) Effects of morphine and naloxone on thresholds of ventral tegmental electrical selfstimulation.

Nannyn Schmiedebergs Archives of Pharmacology. 330: 84-92.

Volpicelli JR, Davis MA, Olgin JE (1986) Naltrexone blocks the post-shock increase of ethanol consumption. Life Sciences. 38: 841–847.

Waller MB, McBride WJ, Lumeng L, Li T-K (1983) Initial sensitivity and acute tolerance to ethanol in th P and NP lines of rats. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior. 19: 683-686.

Weiss F, Lorang MT, Bloom FE, and Koob GF (1993) Oral alcohol selfadministration stimulates dopamine release in the rat nucleus accumbens: genetic and motivational determinants. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 276: 250-258.

Weiss F, Parsons LH, Schutleis G, Hyytia P, Lorang MT, Bloom FE, and Koob GF (1996) Ethanol self-administration restores withdrawal-associated deficiencies in accumbal dopamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine release in dependent rats. Journal of Neuroscience. 16: 3474-3485.

Winkler A, Roske I, Furkert J, Fickel J, Melzig MF. (1995) Effects of voluntary ethanol ingestion on the POMC gene expression in the rat pituitary and on the plasma beta-endorphin content. Alcohol and Alcoholism. 30: 231–238.

Wise RA (1998) Drug-activation of brain reward pathways. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 51: 13–22

Wise PM, Scarbrough K. Weiland NG, Larson GH. (1990) Diurnal pattern of proopiomelanocortin gene expression in the arcuate nucleus of proestrous, ovariectomized, and steroid-treated rats: A possible role in cyclic luteinizing hormone secretion. Molecular Endocrinology. 4: 886-892.

World Health Organization (2002) World Health Report 2002—Reducing Risks, Promoting Healthy Life. WHO, Geneva.

Xuei X, Dick D, Flury-Wetherill L, Tian HJ, Agrawal A, Bierut L, Goate A, Bucholz K, Schuckit M, Nurnberger J Jr, Tischfield J, Kuperman S, Porjesz B, Begleiter H, Foroud T, Edenberg HJ. (2006) Association of the kappa-opioid system with alcohol dependence. Molecular Psychiatry. 11: 1016-24.

Yan Q-S (1999) Extracellular dopamine and serotonin after ethanol monitored with 5-minute microdialysis. Alcohol. 19: 1–7.

Yim HJ, Robinson DL, White M, Jaworski JN, Randall PK, Lancaster FE, RA Gonzales. (2000) Dissociation between the time course of ethanol and extracellular dopamine concentrations in the nucleus accumbens after a single intraperitoneal injection. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 24(6): 781

Yim HJ, Schallert T, Randall PK, Gonzales RA (1998) Comparison of local and systemic ethanol effects on extracellular dopamine concentration in rat nucleus
accumbens by microdialysis. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 22: 367-374.

Yoshimoto K, McBride WJ, Lumeng L, Li TK. (1992) Ethanol enhances the release of dopamine and serotonin in the nucleus accumbens of HAD and LAD lines of rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 16(4): 781-5.

Zakarian S, Smyth DG. (1982) Distribution of beta-endorphin-related peptides in rat pituitary and brain. Biochemical Journal. 202(3): 561-71.

**Lightslink Printable License** 

### SPRINGER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 03, 2007

This is a License Agreement between Samuel Jarjour ("You") and Springer ("Springer"). Please note that you are liable to account for Value Added Tax (VAT). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Springer, and the payment terms and conditions.

_icense Number	1677170335155			
_icense date	Mar 27, 2007			
Licensed content publisher	Springer			
Licensed content publication	Psychopharmacology			
Licensed content title	A microdialysis profile of ß-endorphin and catecholamines in the rat nucleus accumbens following alcohol administration			
Licensed content author	Peter W. Marinelli			
Licensed content date	Feb 19, 2004			
Volume number	169			
Issue number	1			
Pages	60 - 67			
Type of Use	Thesis / Dissertation			
Details of use	Print			
Portion of the article	Figures			
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Effect of Acute Ethanol Administration on the Extracellular Concentrations of the Opioid Peptides $\beta$ -Endorphin, Met-Enkep and Dynorphin A1-8 at the Level of Ventral Tegmental Area in Rat			
Expected completion date	Mar 2007			
Total	\$0.00			

Terms and Conditions

### Introduction

The publisher for this copyrighted material is Springer Science + Business Media. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

### Limited License

With reference to your request to reprint in your thesis material on which Springer Science and Business Media control the copyright, permission is granted, free of charge, for the use indicated in your enquiry. Licenses are for one-time use only with a maximum distribution equal to the number that you identified in the licensing process.

This License includes use in an electronic form, provided its password protected or on the iniversity's intranet. For any other electronic use, please contact Springer at permissions.dordrecht@springer.com or permissions.heidelberg@springer.com)

The material can only be used for the purpose of defending your thesis, and with a maximum of 100 extra copies in paper.

Although Springer holds copyright to the material and is entitled to negotiate on rights, this icense is only valid, provided permission is also obtained from the (co) author (address is given with the article/chapter) and provided it concerns original material which does not arry references to other sources (if material in question appears with credit to another source, authorization from that source is required as well). Permission free of charge on this occasion does not prejudice any rights we might have to charge for reproduction of our copyrighted material in the future.

Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted

You may not alter or modify the material in any manner. Abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of the author (s) and/or Springer Science + Business Media. (Please contact Springer at permissions.dordrecht@springer.com or permissions.heidelberg@springer.com)

## **Reservation of Rights**

Springer Science + Business Media reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this icensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

**Copyright Notice: Disclaimer** 

You must include the following copyright and permission notice in connection with any reproduction of the licensed material:

'Springer and the original publisher /journal title, volume, year of publication, page, chapter/article title, name(s) of author(s), figure number(s), original copyright notice) is given to the publication in which the material was originally published, by adding; with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media"

Warranties: Springer Science + Business Media makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

### Indemnity

You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Springer Science + Business Media and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

No Transfer of License This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without Springer Science + Business Media's written permission.

No Amendment Except in Writing

This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of Springer Science + Business Media, by CCC on Springer Science + Business Media's behalf).

# **Objection to Contrary Terms**

Springer Science + Business Media hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and Springer Science + Business Media (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions shall control.

## Jurisdiction

All disputes that may arise in connection with this present License, or the breach thereof, shall be settled exclusively by the country's law in which the work was originally published.

v1.0



Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire

NUCLEAR SUBSTANCES AND PERMIS PORTANT SUR LES RADIATION DEVICES SUBSTANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET LICENCE LES APPAREILS À RAYONNEMENT 07438-1-07.0

Licence Number Numéro de permis

#### I) LICENSEE

Pursuant to section 24(2) of the Nuclear Safety and Control Act, this licence is issued to:

Hôpital Douglas/ Douglas Hospital 6875 LaSalle Boulevard Verdun, QC H4H 1R3 Canada

hereinafter «the licensee».

#### II) PERIOD

This licence is valid from: May 1 2002 to April 30 2007.

#### III) LICENSED ACTIVITIES

This licence authorizes the licensee to possess, transfer, import, export, use and store the nuclear substances and the prescribed equipment listed in section IV) of this licence.

This licence is issued for: laboratory studies: 10 or more laboratories where radioisotopes are used or handled (836)

#### IV) NUCLEAR SUBSTANCES AND PRESCRIBED EQUIPMENT

ITEM	NUCLEAR SUBSTANCE	UNSEALED SC MAXIMUM QUANTITY	OURCE	SEALED SOURCE MAXIMUM QUANTITY	EQUIPMENT MAKE AND MODEL	
1	Hydrogen 3	4	GBq	n/a	n/a	
2	Carbon 14	1	GBq	n/a	n/a	
3	Iodine 125	1500	MBq	n/a	n/a	
4	Calcium 45	40	MBq	n/a	n/a	
5	Phosphorus	32 400	MBq	n/a	n/a	
6	Sulfur 35	1	GBq	n/a	n/a	
7	Phosphorus	33 1	GBq	n/a	n/a	
8	Cesium 137	n/.	a	1480 kBa	q Beckman	LS (series)
9	Radium 226	n/-	a	370 kBd	q Canberra series	-Packard 4000

The total quantity of an unsealed nuclear substance in possession shall not exceed the corresponding listed unsealed source maximum quantity. The total quantity of nuclear substance per sealed source shall not exceed its corresponding listed sealed source maximum quantity. Sealed sources shall only be used in the corresponding listed equipment.

### V) LOCATION(S) OF LICENSED ACTIVITIES

used or stored at:

Lehmann and Frank B.Common Pavilion 6875 LaSalle Bou evard Verdun, QC

#### **VI) CONDITIONS**

- Prohibition of Human Use This licence does not authorize the use of nuclear substances in or on human beings. (2696-0)
- Area Classification The licensee shall classify each room, area or enclosure where more

License e's Copy - Original

.../ 2



NUCLEAR SUBSTANCES AND PERMIS PORTANT SUR LES RADIATION DEVICES LICENCE

SUBSTANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET LES APPAREILS À RAYONNEMENT

Licence Number Numéro de permis

### Page 2

than one exemption quantity of an unsealed nuclear substance is used at a single time as:

(a) basic-level if the quantity does not exceed 5 ALI,
(b) intermediate-level if the quantity used does not exceed 50 ALI,
(c) high-level if the quantity does not exceed 500 ALI,
(d) containment-level if the quantity exceeds 500 ALI; or
(e) special purpose if approved in writing by the Commission or a person authorized by the Commission.

Except for the basic-level classification, the licensee shall not use unsealed nuclear substances in these rooms, areas or enclosures without written approval of the Commission or a person authorized by the Commission. (2108-1)

- 3. Laboratory Lists The licensee shall maintain a list of all areas, rooms and enclosures in which more than one exemption quantity of a nuclear substance is used or stored. (2569 - 1)
- 4. Laboratory Procedures

The licensee shall post and keep posted, in a readily visible location in areas, rooms or enclosures where nuclear substances are handled, a radioisotope safety poster approved by the Commission or a person authorized by the Commission, which corresponds to the classification of the area, room or enclosure. (2570 - 1)

5. Thyroid Monitoring

Every person who (a) uses at a single time a quantity of volatile iodine-125 or iodine-131 exceeding; (i) 5 MBq in an open room;
(ii) 50 MBq in a fume hood;
(iii) 500 MBq in a glove box; any other quantity in other containment approved in writing by (iv) (1V) any other quantity in other containment approved in writing the Commission or a person authorized by the Commission; or
 (b) is involved in a spill of greater than 5 MBq of volatile iodine-125 or iodine-131;
 (c) or on whom iodine-125 or iodine-131 external contamination is detected; and shall, undergo thyroid screening within five days following the exposure to iodine-125 or iodine-131. (2046 - 7)

- Thyroid Screening Screening for internal iodine-125 and iodine-131 shall be performed using: (a) a direct measurement of the  $t_{i}$ yroid with an instrument that can detect 1 kBq of iodine-125 or iodine-131; or (b) a bioassay procedure approved by the Commission or a person authorized by the Commission. (2600 - 1)
- 7. Thyroid Bioassay

If thyroid screening detects more than 10 kBg of iodine-125 or iodine-131 in the thyroid, the licensee shall immediately make a preliminary report to the Commission or a person authorized by the Commission and have bioassay performed within 24 hours by a person licensed by the Commission to provide internal dosimetry.

(2601 - 4)

- 8. Extremity Dosimetry The licensee shall ensure that any person who handles a container which contains more than 5. MBq of phosphorus 32, strontium 89, yttrium 90, samarium 153 (r rhenium 186 wears a ring dosimeter. The dosimeters must be supplied and read by a dosimetry service licensed by the Commission. (2578-0)
- 9. Contamination Criteria

Licensee's Copy - Original

.../ 3



RADIATION DEVICES

NUCLEAR SUBSTANCES AND PERMIS PORTANT SUR LES

Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire

SUBSTANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET LES APPAREILS À RAYONNEMENT Licence Number Numéro de permis

Page 3

The licensee shall ensure that for nuclear substances listed in the licence application guide table titled "Classification of Radionuclides"; (a) non-fixed contamination in all areas, rooms or enclosures where unsealed nuclear substances are used or stored does not exceed:
(i) 3 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class A radionuclides; (ii) 30 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class B radionuclides; or (iii) 300 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class C (b) non-fixed contamination in all other areas does not exceed: (i) 0.3 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class A radionuclides; 3 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class B (ii) radionuclides; or (iii) 30 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class C radionuclides; averaged over an area not exceeding 100 square centimetres. (2642-2) 10. Decommissioning

The licensee shall ensure that prior to decommissioning any area, room or enclosure where the licensed activity has been conducted; (a) the non-fixed contamination for nuclear substances listed in the licence application guide table titled "Classification of Radionuclides" does not exceed: (i) 0.3 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class A radionuclides; (ii) 3 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class B radionuclides; and (iii) 30 becquerels per square centimetre for all Class C radionuclides; averaged over an area not exceeding 100 square centimetres; (b) the release of any area, room or enclosure containing fixed contamination, is approved in writing by the Commission or person authorized by the Commission; (c) all nuclear substances and radiation devices have been transferred in accordance with the conditions of this licence; and (d) all radiation warning signs have been removed or defaced. (2571-2)

Storage

The licensee shall: (a) ensure that when in storage radioactive nuclear substances or radiation devices are accessible only to persons authorized by the licensee; (b) ensure that the dose rate at any occupied location outside the storage area, room or enclosure resulting from the substances or devices in storage does not exceed 2.5 microSv/h; and (c) have measures in place to ensure that the dose limits in the Radiation Protection Regulations are not exceeded as a result of the substances or devices in storage. (2575-0)

12. Disposal (Laboratories)

When disposing of unsealed nucle; r substances to municipal garbage or sewer systems, the licensee shall ensure that the following limits are not exceeded:

COLUMN 1 Nuclear Substance - -	COLUMN 2(a) LIMITS solids to municipal garbage system (quantity per kilogram)	COLUMN 3(b) LIMITS liquids(water soluble)to municipal. sewer system (quantity per year)
Carbon 14	3.7 MBq	10 000 MBq
Chromium 51	3.7 MBq	100 MBq

Liconsee's Copy - Original

.../ 4